

A ROADMAP

FOR CONTINUED US LEADERSHIP

TO END GLOBAL HUNGER



ROADMAP ORIGINATING ORGANIZATIONS

The following organizations played an active role in writing and circulating the Roadmap document for signature.

The 1,000 Days Action Network
The Alliance to End Hunger
Bread for the World
CARE
Catholic Relief Services
Congressional Hunger Center
Mercy Corps
Oxfam America
Save the Children
Women Thrive Worldwide
World Food Program USA



A ROADMAP

FOR CONTINUED US LEADERSHIP

TO END GLOBAL HUNGER

JULY 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SEC	TION 1 / HUNGER AND MALNUTRITION: A PRESSING GLOBAL CHALLENGE	1
	TION 2 / THE ROADMAP TO END GLOBAL HUNGER: GINAL RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ALLEVIATING GLOBAL HUNGER	3
G	uiding Principles	3
А	Comprehensive Approach to Addressing Global Hunger	4
In	stitutional Structures for Coordination and Integration of Programs	10
SEC	TION 3 / US PROGRESS ON ROADMAP RECOMMENDATIONS: 2009 - 2012	11
U:	S Global Commitments	11
Pr	rogress in Emergency, Safety Net, Nutrition and Agricultural Development Programs	12
ln	stitutional Structures for Coordination and Integration of Programs	21
SEC	TION 4 / RECOMMENDATIONS FOR US POLICYMAKERS	23
1.	Continue to lead the international community on global food security by providing robust support for programs	23
2.	Establish clear leadership roles to more effectively coordinate and integrate US global food security programs.	27
3.	Support programs that build the resilience of people to resist shocks and to recover more quickly and fully, thereby reducing future emergency relief needs.	28
4.	Support effective safety net programs and build the capacity of host governments to develop and deploy their own national safety net systems	29
5.	Strengthen and institutionalize the focus on nutrition across all US programs	30
6.	A shift to a country-led model of development will require the US to develop new capacities to encourage involvement of all stakeholders in planning and to utilize plans to promote effective donor coordination and increased transparency and accountability	30

A	NNEX	(ES	33
	1.	Summary of the history of bipartisan support for US global leadership in addressing world hunger and malnutrition	33
	2.	Program integration: How emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs work together to support global food security	35
	3.1	Productive Safety Net Program (PSNP)	36
	3.2	MERET: Land Regeneration in Ethiopia	37
	3.3	Local and Regional Procurement: Kyrgyzstan	38
	3.4	From Conflict to Coping: How Peace Building Programming Promoted Drought Resilience in Ethiopia	39
	3.5	Country Leadership in Reducing Hunger: Brazil's Social Safety Net Program	40
	3.6	Sustainable School Feeding: Cape Verde Assumes Full Responsibility for National Program	41
	3.7	R4: Rural Resilience Initiative in Senegal	42
	3.8	Strengthening Household Ability to Respond to Development Opportunities (SHOUHARDO): Bangladesh	43
	3.9	Food Security and Nutrition Program (PROSANO)	44
	3.10	YALLANDO KLEYA Child Survival Project (2004-2009)	45
	3.11	Developing New Nutritional Products with Private Sector Involvement	46
	3.12	HarvestPlus Increases Nutritional Content of Foods	47
	3.13	ACORDAR: Alliance to Create Rural Development Opportunities through Agro-enterprise Relationships	48
	3.14	Purchase for Progress (P4P): Connecting Small-scale Farmers to Markets in 21 Countries	49
	3.15	Building the Capacity of Small-scale Farmers, Ghana	50
	4.	Calculating the Chronic Hunger Need and Estimating a Cost to Address that Need	51
	5.	Summary Chart of Funding Recommendations	53

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the wake of the global food price crisis of 2008, a broad-based coalition of non-governmental organizations, advocacy groups, and faith-based organizations developed a document entitled the *Roadmap to End Global Hunger* that was endorsed by more than 40 organizations and became the basis for legislation introduced in the House of Representatives (H.R. 2817). The Roadmap presented a vision for a comprehensive and integrated US strategy to increase global food security, including suggested levels of financial support for emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs over 5 years.

The Roadmap for Continued US Leadership to End Global Hunger reviews progress over the last three years toward the goals set out in the original Roadmap, and offers recommendations to ensure continued effectiveness of US global food security programs.

WHY ADDRESS GLOBAL HUNGER AND MALNUTRITION?

Hunger remains one of the world's most pressing challenges, with almost a billion people — or one in seven worldwide — suffering chronic hunger. In addition, each year up to 100 million more people may face acute hunger brought on by natural disasters and conflicts. Women and children are disproportionately affected by hunger and malnutrition. With population growth placing a strain on a limited natural resource base, and changing weather patterns creating more droughts and floods, feeding the world of the future presents a serious challenge.

Addressing hunger and malnutrition is the right thing to do. For decades, the US has been the moral leader around the globe in responding to humanitarian crises and development needs in order to make a difference in the lives of our world's most vulnerable people. These investments generate significant good will.

Addressing hunger and malnutrition is a smart investment. Investments in nutrition programs can bring returns on investment as high as 138 to 1.

By contrast, malnutrition costs individuals up to 10 percent of lifetime earnings and may cost countries up to 11 percent of their gross domestic product in lost productivity. Reducing hunger and increasing the economic well-being of people in the developing world — where 95 percent of consumers live — helps to create more prosperous and stable markets for US goods and services.

Addressing hunger and malnutrition is critical to national and global security. In the wake of the food price spikes in 2008-2009, riots broke out in almost 40 countries around the world. Volatile food prices and compromised access to food have led to social unrest, particularly in global security hotspots such as the Middle East and North Africa. It is critical to both our national and global security that the international community helps developing countries better manage destabilizing events like volatile food prices and natural disasters.

The American people support smart investments in alleviating hunger and malnutrition. Public opinion polls show consistent support from the vast majority of people in the US for programs to end hunger and assist poor people around the world in their efforts to reach self-sufficiency.

PROGRESS IN US PROGRAMS TO ALLEVIATE GLOBAL HUNGER AND MALNUTRITION: 2009 - PRESENT

Over the last three years, the US has demonstrated strong leadership, leveraging the support of the international community, host country governments, international organizations, civil society and the private sector for efforts to strengthen food security worldwide. Emergency response has been improved through better early warning systems, more efficient supply chains, expanded pre-positioning of food, and enhanced nutritional quality of food aid. In addition, the US has greatly expanded the use of local and regional procurement (LRP) in both emergency and development programs, increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of food assistance programs. There has been tremendous progress on identifying the most critical nutrition interventions, with the US actively participating in efforts to generate the increased political will required to improve nutrition — particularly through the 1,000 Days Partnership and through active participation in the Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) movement. Finally, the US has catalyzed international investment in agricultural development, ensuring development of country-owned plans to spur agricultural development, particularly in Africa. Within all of these programs there is increased recognition of the need to focus food security programs on the important goal of building the resilience of communities to withstand shocks and to build stable, self-sufficient livelihoods.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To continue to build upon this dramatic progress in US programs to address global hunger and malnutrition:

- The US should invest \$5 billion annually in emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs. This investment constitutes just over one tenth of one percent of the US budget, yet would support increased food security for hundreds of millions of people worldwide.
- 2. The US should ensure coordination and integration of food security programs by appointing a Global Food Security Coordinator responsible for overseeing development and implementation of the government-wide global food security strategy, with corresponding budget authority over all global food security programs.
- 3. The US should increase support for programs that build resilience to shocks by making dedicated Development Assistance (DA) funding available to be jointly programmed by USG staff (including staff of all relevant USAID Bureaus, USDA, and other operational agencies) in countries at high risk of suffering crises.

- 4. The US should support effective safety net programs and build the capacity of host governments to develop and deploy their own national safety net systems.
- 5. The US should strengthen and institutionalize the focus on nutrition across all programs by establishing a high-level focal point for global nutrition as required of all SUN movement countries, defining the nutrition budget across initiatives and accounts, and developing a global nutrition strategy.
- 6. The US should strengthen country-led development planning processes by increasing engagement of stakeholders, assisting governments in overcoming legal and policy constraints, and making criteria for selection of the countries and regions targeted more clear and transparent.

HUNGER AND MALNUTRITION: A PRESSING GLOBAL CHALLENGE

HUNGER AND MALNUTRITION: A PRESSING GLOBAL CHALLENGE

More than 925 million people suffer from chronic hunger worldwide. 1 That's roughly one in seven people who go to bed hungry each night. Despite progress in reducing the overall proportion of people affected by hunger from 20 percent of the world's population in 1990 to 16 percent by 2007, the overall number of hungry people continues to climb.² High and volatile food prices have eroded the ability of poor households to buy adequate food and are threatening to drive millions of more people into hunger. Malnutrition contributes to more than one-third of all child deaths about three million each year.3 Virtually all of these deaths are preventable. Hunger and malnutrition also have disproportionate effects on women and girls, who are often more economically, socially and physically vulnerable to food insecurity.

The challenge of reducing hunger and malnutrition is only going to get tougher. To feed an expected world population of more than nine billion people by 2050, agricultural output will have to increase by an estimated 60 percent.⁴ And this increased production must come while preserving the natural environment and adapting to changing climatic conditions that are expected to make some parts of the world too dry, others too wet, and many more prone to extreme weather events. Shifting rainfall patterns and increasingly unpredictable seasons will challenge smallholder farmers' ability to plan and reap a sufficient harvest.⁵ Oil prices are increasingly driving food prices. 6 Demand is growing, the climate is changing, and the era of high and volatile food prices is expected to continue.7

- ¹ This number is based upon the FAO's 2010 estimate, which was not updated in 2011 because the FAO methodology for calculating the prevalence of hunger is currently being updated.
- ² UN, Millennium Development Goals Report, 2011. The MDGs were adopted in September 2000, with target 1c aimed at halving the proportion of people who suffer hunger by 2015. UN progress reports on this target take 1990 as a baseline.
- ³ UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (IGME), Levels and Trends in Child Mortality, 2011. In 1990, total child mortality was 12 million, with roughly four million attributable to malnutrition. By 2010, total child mortality had dropped to 7.6 million, with roughly 2.5 million attributable to malnutrition.
- ⁴ FAO, Statistical Yearbook, 2012.
- 5 Changes in climatic conditions are expected to add another 10-20 percent to the total number of hungry people by 2050. Parry, et al, Climate Change and Hunger: Responding to the Challenge, UN World Food Programme, 2009.
- ⁶ J. Baffes, "More on the Energy/Nonenergy Price Link," Applied Economics Letters 17: 1555–58 [2010].
- ⁷ OECD FAO Agricultural Outlook 2011-2020.

AMERICANS SUPPORT RISING TO THE CHALLENGE OF ENDING HUNGER

Because there are compelling moral, economic and security reasons for funding global programs to fight hunger, US polls have consistently shown that the vast majority of people in the US favor doing so. A 2010 public opinion survey by the Chicago Council on Global Affairs found that 74 percent of Americans support programs that offer food assistance to vulnerable people and help farmers in needy countries become more productive. Likewise, the 2009 Alliance to End Hunger poll found that 69 percent of Americans agree that addressing problems like disease, hunger and lack of economic opportunity in the world's poorest countries can increase political stability around the world.



THE ROADMAP TO END GLOBAL HUNGER: ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ALLEVIATING GLOBAL HUNGER

The Roadmap to End Global Hunger — launched in February 2009 by a group of over 40 US non-governmental organizations, advocacy groups, and faith-based organizations — called upon the US government to develop a comprehensive, integrated response to global hunger.

Based upon the historical and strong bipartisan support in the US for efforts to address global hunger,⁸ the *Roadmap* presented: 1) a set of overarching principles to guide US activities; 2) a detailed explanation of the elements of a comprehensive approach, which includes emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs as integral building blocks for global food security; and 3) an overarching institutional framework to ensure coordination and integration of these programs.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Drawing on a series of studies, including reports by the US Government Accountability Office (GAO), the *Roadmap* called for the development of a comprehensive strategy to ensure that US support for global food security efforts reflects a balance between short-term emergency and longer-term development needs. The *Roadmap* argued that to be effective, this strategy needed to be:

- Comprehensive: Inclusive of the broad range of activities required to combat global hunger, ensuring that gender and natural resource management principles are integrated throughout efforts;
- Balanced and flexible: Allowing emergency programs to continue to meet global needs, while

- increasing investments in longer-term development in order to build resilience to future shocks, helping to break the cycle of hunger;
- Sustainable: Increasing the capacity of people and governments around the world to feed themselves and be resilient in the face of hunger related shocks;
- Accountable: Grounded in clear targets, benchmarks and indicators of success:
- Multilateral: Able to incentivize robust contributions from other donor nations, and to encourage continued coordination through existing multilateral institutions such as the UN, World Bank and others.

⁸ A more detailed history of US support for international efforts to address hunger and malnutrition is included as Annex 1 in this report.

A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH TO ADDRESSING GLOBAL HUNGER

Decades of research and action on global hunger and malnutrition have shown that there is no "silver bullet" for addressing this problem. Rather, a comprehensive approach is required to build long-term food security. For people to be food secure, adequate food must be available, households must be able to access sufficient food, the food must provide for their caloric and nutritional needs, and the system as a whole must continue to function despite economic shocks, conflicts, disasters and other disruptions. By definition, people who are food secure are those who do not suffer from hunger and malnutrition. Because hunger is a multifaceted problem, a broad range of programs must be effectively integrated to adequately address needs.⁹

Emergency programs are needed to address acute hunger following civil conflicts, natural disasters, and other types of crises to ensure short-term food security and to lay the groundwork for more rapid recovery. To be effective, emergency food assistance programs must also incorporate best practices in the field of nutrition in order to guarantee that the right food is reaching the right people at the right time. For example, it is critical to understand the differential impacts of emergencies on girls and women — who are often at higher risk of malnutrition — as well as on men and boys.

As with acute needs, combating chronic hunger requires an integrated approach that includes safety net programs and systems, nutrition programs and agricultural development programs focused on poor and food insecure people. The most effective food security programs combine these approaches to address the underlying causes of hunger. National safety net systems have proven highly effective at reducing chronic hunger. Safety net programs like school feeding and food or cash for work programs have also generated strong positive impacts.

Over the longer term, agricultural development must be sustainable and resilient, protecting the natural environment on which productivity depends and ensuring the capacity of farmers and food systems to plan for variability in climatic conditions. While agricultural development is essential to increasing the availability of food, if people are not able to equitably access the food produced — or if the food does not meet their nutritional needs — then increased production alone may not contribute to reductions in hunger and malnutrition.

A comprehensive approach ensures that US assistance is as effective as possible at meeting the needs of all vulnerable people, as well as increasing the impact of interventions. Expertise and experience drawn from civil society, including the business community, is essential to building strong comprehensive programs.

Gender refers to the different roles, resources, rights and responsibilities of women and men in a society. Women and men face different constraints and opportunities, especially in terms of their needs for and access to services and programs. To be effective at reducing global hunger, US food security policy and programs need to effectively address the needs of both women and men. This commitment to gender is also a central goal of US foreign assistance, which aims to improve gender equality and to foster women's economic empowerment across the globe.

For this reason, the *Roadmap* suggested a comprehensive strategy, based upon four main categories of programs that are needed to guarantee food security: emergency response and management; safety nets; nutrition; and agricultural development.

⁹ See Annex 2 for diagram illustrating the interdependence of emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs in ensuring food security.



EMERGENCY PROGRAMS

Effective emergency response involves getting the right assistance — both food and nonfood — to the right people at the right time in order to save lives. This requires strong early warning systems, effective and gender-sensitive mapping of vulnerabilities, advanced capacity for conducting rapid assessments and food assistance mechanisms that allow an appropriate mix of commodity and cash-based interventions with broad support of the international community.

Emergency programs are essential for meeting basic human needs during times of crisis, when host governments are stretched beyond existing capacity. For example, after the January 2010 earthquake in Haiti, emergency programs supported by the international community provided food to those in need at a time when the Haitian government had little capacity to assist the population. The same has been true in many other countries, including countries vital to US national security like Pakistan, which has suffered massive floods for the past several years. These crises are also caused by civil conflicts — like those in Sudan, Cote d'Ivoire, Somalia, and a host of other nations — which can provoke mass population displacements, disrupt agricultural production and cause food shortages for vulnerable people. Emergency programs are vital to stabilizing countries in the wake of crisis.

Throughout the last several decades, increases in extreme weather events and conflicts have placed millions more people at risk of acute hunger due to emergencies. The historic trend in the reported number of natural disasters shows a consistent increase, with between 100 and 200 natural disasters reported each year during the 1980s, between 200 and 300 during the 1990s, and more than 350 natural disasters reported each year from 2000 to the present.¹⁰ Conflicts across the globe have led to dramatic increases in the total number of internally displaced peoples (IDPs), which rose from 17.4 million in 1997 to 27.5 million in 2011. In addition, the number of refugees is at a 15-year high, with 80 percent of refugees now located in developing countries that are ill-equipped to meet refugee needs.¹¹ In the last several years alone, crises affecting 13 million people in the Horn of Africa, 5.5 million in the Sahel, and 3 million in Pakistan confirm a strong upward trend. The estimated cost to address emergency food assistance needs rose from under \$4.2 billion in 2005 to \$6.8 billion in 2010.12

SAFETY NET PROGRAMS AND SYSTEMS

Safety nets limit or mitigate the impact of shocks on vulnerable populations by effectively meeting the basic needs of chronically hungry and poor people, thereby reducing reliance on more costly emergency

 $^{^{\}rm 10}\,$ US Office of Foreign Disaster Assistance, 2010.

¹¹ UNHCR, Global Trends Report 2010, June 2011.

¹² WFP annual appeal numbers.

interventions. Safety nets help hungry, poor people to maintain access to food and other assets to protect their livelihoods and to prevent them from falling more deeply into poverty, sustaining development gains during times of crisis. Effective national safety net systems, such as Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Program ¹³ and school feeding programs, ¹⁴ can also be scaled up in emergencies to provide timely and predictable food assistance to vulnerable and chronically food insecure populations in order to protect livelihoods and productive assets.

Safety net *systems* and *programs* are both vital for increasing global food security

National safety net systems are broad support structures that are managed and financed by host country governments to provide ongoing and consistent support to vulnerable populations, preventing them from falling deeper into poverty. As such, national safety nets systems constitute one of the most effective and sustainable mechanisms for ending global hunger. Unfortunately, there are few governments around the world with both the capacity and the political will to support effective national safety net systems.

Safety net programs are more targeted interventions that are employed in certain settings — usually with the assistance of international organizations or NGOs — in order to meet urgent needs while also increasing government involvement over time. Because many governments with high levels of food insecurity need assistance to build the institutional capacity to address hunger, the development and gradual scaling of smaller safety net programs remains an essential foundation for the eventual development of effective national safety net systems in countries all over the world.

Because safety nets help poor and vulnerable people cope with impacts of shocks, they are increasingly important given rising and volatile food prices. The food price spikes in 2007 and 2008 led to protests and riots in 48 countries, 15 suggesting a close connection between food security and political stability. In fact, international food prices are likely to remain high, with price volatility continuing. This is due to a number of factors including rising consumer demand fueled by larger and more prosperous populations, the use of food for fuel, high oil prices, resource scarcity, commodity speculation and increasing frequency of weather shocks. 16 Effective safety nets help to ensure that higher food prices do not prevent poor households from having required access to food or contribute to inequitable access to food within the household. In times of food price increases and volatility, for example, women often end up being the shock absorbers of household food security, reducing their own consumption to leave more food for other household members.

Safety net programs that provide food for work, cash for work or targeted assistance to particularly vulnerable populations can play a critical role in meeting the basic needs of hungry, poor people by maintaining their access to food and forestalling



¹³ See full case study of PSNP in Annex 3.1.

¹⁴ See Rethinking School Feeding: Social Safety Nets, Child Development and the Education Sector, WFP and World Bank, 2009.

¹⁵ WFP, Food Insecurity and Violent Conflict, 2011.

¹⁶ FAO, State of Food Insecurity in the World, 2011.

increases in poverty.¹⁷ Safety nets targeted to vulnerable populations on either a temporary or permanent basis can help save lives and strengthen livelihoods. Implemented through food and cashbased transfers depending on the context, they can prevent malnutrition that has lifelong consequences, prevent depletion of productive assets and reductions in education and health spending, build resilience to sudden shocks and promote longer-term development. Safety net programs can also help to graduate small farmers from assistance programs by increasing their capacity to integrate with market opportunities that allow them to sustainably escape hunger.

Increasing weather-related shocks, other natural disasters and the recent global financial crisis have underscored the urgent need for effective disaster risk reduction programs that build resilience and help governments and communities mitigate risk and reduce the impact of external shocks. In the absence of such programs, agricultural productivity gains, livestock and other assets that take years to build can be wiped out in a single moment, trapping smallholder farmers, their families and communities in a devastating cycle of poverty. Safety net programs can help families offset the impact rising food prices have on the nutrition of their children. They can build resilience to weather-related shocks by paying people in cash or food to construct irrigation and terracing systems that are disaster resistant, or to build other agricultural infrastructure to increase local productivity. In Ethiopia, for example, a groundbreaking community program called MERET is restoring barren land for agriculture while increasing incomes and helping communities adapt to and prepare for weather and climate changes. 18 This is one of many programs in the Horn of Africa where communities benefiting from this assistance experienced significantly less hardship as a result of the historic drought in 2011, showing that programs to build resilience can have a significant impact on reducing the need for costly emergency interventions.



Safety net programs also include efforts to reduce the negative impacts of natural disasters through risk reduction programs. Disaster risk reduction includes a range of programs that aim to ensure that infrastructure is constructed to minimize risk and vulnerability to conditions that threaten food security, as well as planning for more effective responses so people are evacuated to minimize loss of life and communities are ready to respond immediately to impacts.

NUTRITION PROGRAMS

Adequate nutrition serves as a foundation for lifelong health and development. Nutrition programs ensure that the most vulnerable people have adequate access to the required calories and nutrients to develop properly. Strong nutrition programs embrace a lifecycle approach — meeting the special needs of those most vulnerable to the impacts of malnutrition through maternal and child health, child and adolescent health and disease control interventions. They focus on children in the most critical window of human development — the 1,000 days from pregnancy to age two — and on specific interventions aimed at meeting the increased nutritional needs of people living with HIV and AIDS. Nutrition programs include vitamin and mineral fortification, mother and child health and nutrition programs, nutrition education, sanitation/ hygiene and improved access to clean water.

¹⁷ Rethinking School Feeding: Social Safety Nets, Child Development and the Education Sector, World Bank, 2009.

¹⁸ See case study in Annex 3.2.

Research indicates that it is critical to improve nutrition during the 1,000 days of life from pregnancy to a child's second birthday. During these 1,000 days, adequate nutrition has the greatest impact on a child's cognitive and physical development. Malnutrition during this period limits cognitive abilities, stunts growth and increases susceptibility to both chronic and infectious disease. These consequences of poor nutrition have ramifications throughout adulthood and are passed on to the next generation when malnourished girls and women have their own children. In addition, undernutrition costs billions of dollars in lost productivity annually and significantly increases spending on health care to treat undernutrition and its consequences. The World Bank estimates that undernutrition costs individuals more than 10 percent of their lifetime earnings, and many countries lose at least two percent to three percent of their gross domestic product (GDP) to undernutrition.¹⁹ A study by the United Nations World Food Programme (WFP) and the UN Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean found that the cost of undernutrition amounts to as much as 11 percent of GDP — due to productivity costs, losses due to higher mortality, health costs and education costs in Guatemala and Honduras.²⁰ Malnutrition alone accounts for 17 percent of the total global burden of disease,²¹ with resulting costs for treatment that are far higher than estimated amounts for preventative investments.

Nutrition programs also focus on educating people about healthy eating habits. At present, obesity — a form of malnutrition — is on the rise in developing as well as developed countries. In addition, recent studies show links between adult obesity and childhood malnutrition.²² The rise in health problems like obesity, cardiovascular disease and diabetes that are directly linked to poor eating habits will place an increasing strain on already overburdened public health systems

in many developing countries if investments are not made in preventative programs.

Despite the efficacy and cost effectiveness of nutrition interventions, the World Bank notes that historically, global investments in nutrition have been "miniscule given the magnitude of the problem", even though five of the top ten most cost effective solutions for development focus on nutrition interventions.²³



AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

There are more than 500 million small-scale farmers worldwide — most of them women — many of whom suffer from chronic hunger because they do not currently grow enough food to feed themselves or their families year round. Together, these small-scale farmers feed more than two billion people, many of them among the world's most poor and hungry. Because these small-scale farmers comprise roughly half of the population that suffers from hunger, the attention of the international community has been refocused on the importance of sustainably boosting their agricultural production capacity as a key strategy in addressing

¹⁹ World Bank, Scaling Up Nutrition, 2010.

²⁰ Rodrigo Martinez and Andres Fernandez, The Cost of Hunger: Social and Economic Impact of Child Undernutrition in Central America and the Dominican Republic, LC/W.144, February 2008, p.15.

²¹ WHO, www.who.int/quantifying_ehimpacts/global/globclimate/en/.

²² The nutrition puzzle: Why do so many people in poor countries eat so badly—and what can be done about it? The Economist, February 18, 2012, www.economist.com/node/21547771.

²³ Copenhagen Consensus Results, 2008.

hunger. While the innovations of "green revolution" technology have dramatically increased agricultural production in some parts of the world, the majority of small-scale farmers continue to lack access to the financing, information and agricultural inputs they need to significantly improve their own production. For example, it is now estimated that if women in rural areas had the same access to land, inputs, financial services and markets as men, agricultural production could be increased and the number of hungry people reduced by 100 - 150 million.²⁴



Effective agricultural development programs increase food availability and farmer's incomes through more consistent use of agricultural best practices, increased attention to post-production handling, storage and processing and better linking of producers to various types of markets. Agricultural development programs help ensure that farmers have access to the inputs — including seeds, fertilizer, training and financial products — that are required to increase production and market sales, and rely upon having

the right infrastructure in place to transport products to markets. Tapping business expertise in logistics, information and communications technology, as well as agricultural technology and science can be extremely valuable in building agricultural value chains. Private sector involvement will help ensure that agricultural development programs lead to sustained investment that permanently links small-scale farmers to value chains and customers.

Successful programs give farmers the incentives, resources and information needed to be good environmental stewards and ensure effective management of natural resources through environmental assessments and the promotion of sustainable agricultural practices. They also build the capacity of farmers and their families to plan for an uncertain future with adequate, accessible climate information and adaptive strategies to help farmers cope with the anticipated impact of changes in climatic conditions. Gender and vulnerability assessments are important for ensuring that programs promote gender equality, address disproportionate vulnerability of particular populations and capitalize on the unique contributions and roles of women and men. In addition, these programs seek to ensure full integration of improved nutrition in program goals, design and implementation. At the macroeconomic level, attention to international trade policies and national farm and food policies (including pro-poor policies) can contribute to an enabling environment for agricultural producers. Programs also include capacity building to ensure that developing world farmers are able to meet relevant national and international standards for safety and quality.

Given the decades of insufficient funding for agricultural development at the time of the first *Roadmap*, the document suggested significant investments in programs to build sustainable, equitable agricultural production systems focused on improving diet diversity and on effectively linking small-scale farmers to markets.

²⁴ FAO State of Food and Agriculture report, 2010-2011.

INSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURES FOR COORDINATION AND INTEGRATION OF PROGRAMS

While investment in all four categories of programs included in the comprehensive approach is required to reduce global hunger, the *Roadmap* also stressed the importance of integrating these programs to ensure that investments in one area are effectively leveraging US support for programs in other categories.

To facilitate this integration, the *Roadmap* called for creation of a White House Office on Global Hunger and the appointment of a Global Hunger Coordinator to lead the process of Interagency coordination and program integration. Because many US agencies — including the State Department, US Agency for International Development (USAID), US Department of Agriculture (USDA), the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC), President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR), Office of the US Trade Representative (USTR) and others —are involved in portions of the overall US response to global hunger and malnutrition, this office was envisioned as a point of leadership, coordination and integration, as well as providing valuable oversight and accountability.

Likewise, because jurisdiction for hunger related programs and appropriations involves multiple Congressional Committees, the *Roadmap* also suggested that the Congress build upon the tradition of the House Select Committee on Hunger by restoring this Committee and making it bicameral. The Committee was seen as a key resource in promoting coordination and integration of programs through the legislative and appropriations process.

US PROGRESS ON ROADMAP RECOMMENDATIONS 2009 - 2012

During the past three years, the US has mobilized the international community and has made remarkable progress to address many of the recommendations laid out in the original *Roadmap*. The US has made significant investments in global programs to reduce hunger and malnutrition, has developed a strategy to guide future efforts that includes clear impact indicators and has made numerous improvements to existing emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs based upon evidence from successful past interventions. While additional time is needed to fully assess the impacts of these changes on the lives of hungry and malnourished people worldwide, this section provides a broad overview of some of the most significant steps that have been taken.

US GLOBAL COMMITMENTS

Since 2009, US efforts on global hunger have changed the playing field, creating a tremendous ripple effect with a range of other bilateral donors, multilateral development banks, international organizations, private sector actors, private voluntary organizations and other development stakeholders who have all joined the US in efforts to end global hunger and malnutrition. From President Obama's references to addressing hunger in his inaugural address to the pivotal efforts to rally the international community at the 2009 G8 meeting, US leadership has played an essential role in galvanizing the global community to end hunger.

At the 2009 G8 meeting in L'Aquila, donor countries committed \$22 billion over three years to address the long-term underlying causes of hunger, as well as committing to maintain funding levels for emergency

food assistance. Donors agreed to provide sustained and predictable funding in support of comprehensive, "country owned" food security strategies. To truly address food security, it was recognized that a comprehensive approach consistent with the Rome Principles was needed to address emergencies while simultaneously supporting "medium and long-term sustainable agricultural, food security, nutrition and rural development programs to eliminate the root causes of hunger and poverty, including through the progressive realization of the right to adequate food." The US led the international community at L'Aquila, pledging \$3.5 billion in new funding for agricultural development programs over three years.

Since L'Aquila, the US has made solid progress toward meeting this commitment. Not only has the US nearly reached the \$3.5 billion pledge of new funding for

²⁵ Principle 3: www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/Summit/Docs/Final_Declaration/WSFS09_Declaration.pdf.

agricultural development programs intended to address root causes of hunger through Feed the Future, ²⁶ but the US also has maintained funding for vital emergency programs, providing an average of \$1.78 billion each year for Food for Peace commodity programs, ²⁷ and \$300 million for the Emergency Food Security Program funded through the International Disaster Assistance (IDA) account.

In addition, the US has demonstrated considerable leadership through improving the effectiveness of existing programs and launching promising new approaches to address hunger. Since 2009, the increased US commitment and investment in food security has allowed for development of a range of new program tools that have the potential to meet global needs in cost effective and efficient ways, often through better coordination to ensure that different investments leverage one another.

PROGRESS IN EMERGENCY, SAFETY NET, NUTRITION AND AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

The following section highlights the progress during the past three years on emergency, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs.

EMERGENCY PROGRAMS

In the past three years, a number of improvements have been made to US emergency food security programs. To decrease the time it takes for food from the US to reach people in crisis, USAID has modernized its supply chain management systems to allow commodities in shipment or storage for use in non-emergency programs to be redirected when needed more urgently for emergency response. USAID has also expanded pre-positioning of commodities to include six sites: Texas, Sri Lanka, Djibouti, Kenya, South Africa and Togo. This pre-positioning, combined with improved early warning systems speeds response. For example, following the Pakistan floods in 2010, the US was able to respond to needs within three days: without these early warning, supply chain management and pre-positioning systems the response may have taken months.

During the past three years, USAID also has developed robust capacity to utilize local and regional procurement (LRP) tools to address emergency food needs, allowing for food to be purchased locally when it is available, meets quality standards and markets are functioning. Through an International Disaster Assistance (IDA) emergency food security program, USAID is now able to use cash to provide food assistance in addition to Food for Peace commodity-based programs, allowing for greater use of mechanisms like cash transfers and food vouchers that have proven to be highly effective methods for decreasing the cost and time of getting food to people in urgent need. LRP tools allow for programs to be designed based upon local market conditions so that food assistance does not destabilize local economies. but instead becomes a key component of rebuilding markets following a crisis.²⁸

²⁶ As originally developed, the Feed the Future initiative referred to agricultural development programs developed as part of this new funding commitment. At present, the Administration refers to all food security programs as part of Feed the Future, but in this document we use this term to refer specifically to the programs intended to receive financing through this new commitment. The Administration now uses the Feed the Future title to describe all US food security programs. http://blogs.state.gov/index.php/site/entry/doing_business_differently

²⁷ This amount includes both emergency and non-emergency programs funded through Food for Peace. The Food for Peace Act was previously referred to as Public Law 480, with Title II of P.L. 480 providing the authorization for US commodity food assistance.

²⁸ See case study in Annex 3.3.



Mercy Corp responded to the food security crisis in Kyrgyzstan by using cash transfers to restore livelihoods, while also sustaining demand for locally-produced foods.

Mercy Corps' Local and Regional Procurement program in Kyrgyzstan demonstrated that in emergency environments with appropriate market conditions, cash distributions can rapidly and efficiently improve access to food. Targeting persons affected by ethnic conflict in 2010, close to 90 percent of households reported having food stocks after the cash transfer compared with just over 60 percent before. By foregoing costs associated with the procurement, transfer and distribution of food commodities, the program showed savings of 24 percent when compared with a typical Food for Peace program, with assistance reaching beneficiaries less than a month after the agreement was signed. (see Annex 3.3)

Given the increasing frequency of deadly droughts and floods that can ruin crops and severely undermine food security, substantial need exists for systems that can forecast changes to planting or harvesting patterns. USAID's Famine Early Warning System (FEWSNET) is an essential collaboration involving the US Geological Survey, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, National Oceanic and Atmospheric

Administration and USDA in anticipating and better responding to humanitarian vulnerabilities and crises. In the last several years, USAID has developed an innovative, remote monitoring strategy to provide early warning of significant changes to food availability using information on weather and climate, crop conditions and food markets. FEWSNET also has developed a new resource — the Food Assistance Outlook Briefing — that predicts food assistance needs six months in advance, allowing for timely purchase and shipment of US commodities in response to emerging global needs. Finally, FEWSNET also has significantly improved its market price monitoring capacity, which allows for more accurate forecasting of food shortages or price spikes that will make it impossible for poorer households to purchase food. These global monitoring systems are essential to averting humanitarian crises and could also serve as a tool for improved surveillance and assessment of malnutrition.

Humanitarian organizations are also now able to benefit from massive investments made in communications technology by the US Government and private sector, allowing organizations to effectively locate and map activities and providing more timely data to facilitate communications with local partner organizations and donors. Further, USAID has convened and facilitated ongoing discussions to improve monitoring and evaluation of all food assistance programs. As a result, a new framework has been developed to fully integrate gender considerations into all Food For Peace (FFP) operations.

Finally, USAID has utilized the emergency response to the drought and famine in the Horn of Africa in 2011 to develop a joint planning process that aims to more effectively integrate emergency and long-term development programs. Within this planning framework, the joint goal is building the resilience of communities so they can better withstand future shocks and will therefore need less emergency assistance. This kind of integrated planning and operations to promote long-term food security provides an excellent model for how integration of US global food security programs can increase the impact of investments.

Resilience is the ability of an individual, family or community to weather and respond to stress and shocks. In the food security context, resilience can be built through initiatives like improving natural resource management, diversifying farming and livelihood systems and strengthening institutional capacity to create strategies for disaster mitigation and recovery, or implementing safeguards to assist vulnerable populations cope with a food, fuel or financial crisis. Because resilience, by definition, spans across emergency response, safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs, it does not fit neatly into any one program area.

Promoting resilience involves making integrated, long-term investments to address the root causes of vulnerability: poverty, lack of access to education and health programs,²⁹ environmental degradation³⁰ and conflict.³¹ Within the resilience framework, emergency programs are designed to have a lighter footprint and more flexible tools, with careful attention paid to linking longer term development activities into emergency programs from the beginning, or on graduating emergency programs into other types of interventions aimed at making communities self-sufficient. Programs that build resilience focus on building assets and livelihoods within existing environmental constraints, making natural resource management and gender concerns central within planning efforts. Promoting good nutritional practices and increasing intake of vitamins and minerals also builds resilience by helping to mitigate the negative impacts of environmental and economic shocks, as people who are not already in a debilitated physical condition are better able to withstand hungry periods and to recover more quickly.

Building on the Nairobi Declaration of 2011, USAID recently helped to convene a high-level meeting of African ministers which led to the development of "The Global Alliance for Action for Drought Resilience and Growth," which is a framework meant to strengthen donor coordination in promoting resilience.³²



SAFETY NET PROGRAMS AND SYSTEMS

Progress on development of safety net programs and systems has lagged behind other investments over the last three years and is an area where more investment and progress is warranted.

The US approach to food security during the last three years has increased emphasis on country ownership: building the capacity of host country governments to develop their own national plans to achieve food security. Since a primary goal of safety nets involves establishing national safety net systems to mitigate and respond to the needs of extremely poor and vulnerable people whose food security is threatened, this is a welcome advance. The US has an important opportunity to leverage the country-led approach to encourage the development of formal mechanisms

²⁹ For an example, see Annex 3.7.

³⁰ For an example, see Annex 3.2.

³¹ For a case study on the positive impacts of peacebuilding programs on building resilience, see Annex 3.4.

³² For complete text of the declaration, see www.usaid.gov/resilience/IGADCommunique_040412.pdf.

that ensure civil society, government and private sector interaction on the development of national plans to build food security efforts that include safety net systems. Because the country planning process is still ongoing, there remains much potential for public partnerships between the donor community, international and local NGOs, private sector and national governments. In addition, the examples where countries have made significant progress on food security while also upholding gender integration and natural resource conservation principles — countries like Brazil and Ghana — provide inspiration and best practices for other governments to follow.³³

From 2003 to 2009, Bolsa Familia, one part of Brazil's government program Fome Zero, helped lift 12.6 million people out of poverty and reduced the rate of inequality from 22 percent to 7 percent. The program also greatly reduced the level of malnutrition throughout the country, reducing the prevalence of underweight children by half, and putting the country on track to halve the rate of hunger before 2015, achieving the first UN Millennium Development Goal. (See Annex 3.5)

Safety net **programs** also can play an invaluable role in the development of national safety net **systems**. A wide range of safety net methodologies developed by international NGOs and other partners over the past several decades with support of Food for Peace and USDA has created a rich body of best practices for the US, other donors and national governments to incorporate into the country-led approach. Programs that help subsistence farmers gain skills and embrace technologies to decrease seasonal hungry periods, village-run savings and loan communities and programs that focus on food security of mothers and children are just a few examples of the body of work developed by NGOs and other partners around

the world. Increasing partnerships with the NGO community to scale up best practices can ensure that proven practices and successful new innovations effectively contribute to building strong national safety net systems.

For example, school feeding programs can become self-sustaining when host governments make political commitments to provide financing and build their capacity to manage the programs. Purchasing food required for these programs locally, nationally or regionally brings added economic benefits by stimulating local agricultural production. Over the last 45 years, more than 37 national governments have successfully taken over school meal programs launched by donor countries, NGOs and international organizations like the World Food Programme (WFP), including Brazil and India, which currently operate two of the largest school meal programs in the world. Even smaller countries, like Cape Verde, have been able to successfully take over school feeding programs.³⁴ In addition, school feeding programs promote improved nutrition and gender equality, translating into better health and educational outcomes for girls and boys. Through the use of take-home food rations, school feeding programs have also dramatically increased the school enrollment rates for girls.



 $^{^{\}rm 33}$ See Annex 3.5 for case study.

³⁴ See case study in Annex 3.6.

Safety net systems can be designed to be used as a platform for the delivery of related services. For example, many new insurance products are being developed to address and mitigate risks facing vulnerable people. The Rural Resilience Initiative in Senegal (R4), a joint initiative of WFP, USAID, Oxfam America and Swiss Re, will develop mechanisms that extend the benefits of financial tools such as insurance and credit to the most vulnerable populations.³⁵ Another promising example of recent work in this area — called BASIS — is a USAID, UN, and research institution collaboration to design a new generation of index insurance contracts to improve technology uptake by farmers, increase incomes and attract lenders into rural markets. These initiatives are a response to the overwhelming evidence that uninsured risk can drive people into poverty and destitution, especially those in low wealth agricultural and pastoralist households.

Within the last few years, political will to address nutritional needs has grown, thanks in large part to US leadership which has mobilized public and private stakeholders to invest in nutrition. The US government has increased its support to country-led integrated nutrition programs that embrace a comprehensive approach to preventing undernutrition. Through Feed the Future and the Global Health Initiative, the US is scaling up nutrition through new programs in countries like Tanzania, Bangladesh, Uganda, Nepal, Ethiopia, Ghana and Guatemala. These programs focus on preventing undernutrition by improving infant and young child feeding practices, increasing access to diverse and quality diets, delivering critical nutrition services like micronutrient supplementation and community management of acute malnutrition, strengthening local institutions responsible for nutrition and mainstreaming nutrition into national agriculture, disaster, health and social policies.

NUTRITION PROGRAMS

During the past three years, the international community has made remarkable progress on identifying the most critical nutrition interventions, 36 estimating the total cost of delivering these interventions and also estimating the economic costs of malnutrition.³⁷ The 2012 Copenhagen Consensus project identified a set of nutrition interventions aimed at pregnant women and children that can have the highest economic benefit of any development assistance investment aimed at reducing hunger and malnutrition. This bundle of interventions includes micronutrient fortification, nutrition behavior change and improving the quantity and quality of diet, which together can produce returns as high as \$138 for each \$1 invested.³⁸ Nutrition investments could also save one million lives each year, and improve the health of 360 million children and their mothers.³⁹



A health worker talks to moms about healthy nutrition practices.

³⁵ See Annex 3.7 for case study on R4.

³⁶ Lancet, 2008. http://www.thelancet.com/series/maternal-and-child-undernutrition.

³⁷ World Bank, Scaling Up Nutrition, 2010.

³⁸ Hoddinott, Rosegrant and Torero, IFPRI Challenge Paper, www.copenhagenconsensus.com/Admin/Public/DWSDownload.aspx? File=%2fFiles%2fFiler%2fCC12+papers%2fHunger+and+Malnutrition.pdf.

³⁹ World Bank, Scaling Up Nutrition, 2010.

The US is actively participating in the Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) movement. The SUN movement has been a key driving force behind coordinating and aligning the international community to take decisive action to address this core development challenge. SUN supports countries affected by undernutrition to identify needs and priorities, encourage strong coordination between development partners and scale up proven nutrition interventions through a multisectoral approach. Donor and other development partner support will be essential as countries assess needs and capacities, develop detailed implementation strategies and seek investment in scaling up. As mentioned above, returns on investment in scaling up nutrition will save lives and promote sustained development in participating countries. These valuable efforts to raise the visibility of the importance of nutrition investments should be continued, with the US continuing to provide leadership to governments all over the world to ensure success of the SUN movement.

Secretary of State Hillary Rodham Clinton helped launch "1,000 Days" in September 2010, to focus international attention on nutrition during the 1,000 day window of opportunity from pregnancy to a child's second birthday. The 1,000 Days partnership includes more than 70 organizations that agree with the importance of improving global nutrition and is mapping US NGO investments to prevent and treat malnutrition in key countries.⁴⁰ Many are actively creating 1,000 Days programming. Bread for the World created "Women of Faith for the 1,000 Days Movement" and has led church leader visits to Malawi, Tanzania and Zambia. The Hunger Project's board of directors established nutrition during the 1,000 day window of opportunity as a top priority within its 2012-2015 plan. And CARE has educated members of Congress and key influencers about health, livelihoods

and gender empowerment through the lens of 1,000 Days during learning tours in Ghana and Liberia. Also, both World Vision and Save the Children are focusing international health and child survival campaigns on nutrition with an emphasis on the 1,000 day window.

Governments also are investing in nutrition to target the 1,000 day window from pregnancy to a child's second birthday. In 2011, the Government of Tanzania announced six national nutrition commitments, including the creation of a nutrition-specific budget line, placing nutrition specialists in each district government, and finalization and enforcement of national food fortification standards. Recently, the US government's Millennium Challenge Corporation signed a compact with the Government of Indonesia. This is one of MCC's largest compacts to date and is the first to include a child nutrition program to reduce stunting. This \$130 million dollar investment in nutrition aims to improve long-term health, as well as to increase household income through cost savings, productivity growth and higher lifetime earnings.

Integrated program approaches to improve nutrition are proving remarkably successful and cost effective. The SHOUHARDO program in Bangladesh reduced the incidence of stunting and chronic malnutrition in children aged six months to 24 months old from 56 percent to 40 percent in just three and a half years. ⁴¹ Likewise, nutrition education and community outreach programs have proven to bring high impact and return on investment, often dramatically improving nutrition. ⁴² The YALLANDO KLEYA child survival project in Niger found the breastfeeding of infants increased from 55 percent to 85 percent after education programs were implemented. Improving pregnant women's nutritional knowledge also led to reductions in anemia among pregnant women from 40 percent to 7 percent. ⁴³

 $^{^{\}rm 40}$ http://www.thousanddays.org/resources/nutrition-map.

⁴¹ See Annex 3.8 for case study.

⁴² See Annex 3.9 for case study of PROSANO in Guatemala.

 $^{^{43}}$ See Annex 3.10 for case study.



Food distribution to pregnant & lactating mothers.

The "Strengthening Household Ability to Respond to Development Opportunities" (SHOUHARDO) program in Bangladesh achieved a reduction in stunting and chronic malnutrition of 4.5 percentage points per year, almost twice the average for similar programs. This was done by using a comprehensive approach that provided food rations to children aged six months to two years and pregnant and lactating mothers, while simultaneously addressing unsanitary living conditions, poverty, discrimination against women and poor people and recurrent natural disasters. (see Annex 3.8)

There have been tremendous advances in the treatment of severely malnourished children. While therapeutic interventions for malnourished children previously required hospitalization and IV feeding, new nutritional products now allow families to administer high nutrient pastes from small packets to their children at home. Nutritionally enhanced grain-based products for treatment of moderate malnutrition are also more widely available, allowing greater numbers to be reached more cost effectively.

Public-private partnerships are also providing a valuable way to bring these advances to people in need. For example, PepsiCo is working with USAID and WFP on a project to produce chickpeas in Ethiopia: part of the production is exported to increase local incomes and part of it is converted into a fortified chickpea paste for therapeutic use with severely malnourished children. 44 General Mills and Heinz are working in partnership with USAID in the Horn to build local capacity to produce similar nutritionally enhanced products. USDA has supported universities, companies and NGOs to implement US-based micronutrient fortification food assistance projects in six countries.

Biofortified crops, such as orange fleshed sweet potato and high iron beans, have the potential of making nutritional impacts on a large scale through breeding higher levels of micronutrients directly into key staple foods. HarvestPlus, an initiative that is co-convened by the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT) and the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), is a leader in developing biofortified crops through traditional breeding methods focusing on three micronutrients that are recognized as most limiting in diets: iron, zinc and vitamin A.⁴⁵

In addition, in April 2011, USAID completed a two year process designed to enhance the nutritional quality of food assistance. Recommended changes included nutritional improvements to the foods provided, increased use of ready-to-use products for certain target populations and improvements in cost effectiveness and monitoring of food. These types of interventions will allow US food assistance programs to respond to the latest findings in nutrition science, especially regarding nutritional needs of women and children during the critical 1,000 day window between pregnancy and two years of age.

Existing US programs have recognized the important links between food security, agriculture, nutrition and health, as documented in a series of publications by IFPRI. These promising practices should continue for

 $^{^{\}rm 44}$ See Annex 3.11 for case study.

 $^{^{45}}$ See Annex 3.12 for case study.

better health and nutrition outcomes, as integrating nutrition in all development programs increases impact and cost effectiveness. An equal emphasis on nutrition in agricultural programs that were traditionally focused only on production allows people to grow more nutritious food for domestic consumption and encourages preparation techniques to ensure that micronutrients are not lost in the cooking process. The inclusion of nutrition components in the PEPFAR programs has helped to successfully link health and nutrition interventions by addressing increased caloric needs of people living with HIV, AIDS and other chronic illnesses.

Despite the enormous strides the US has recently made in investing in nutrition, funding for nutrition programs remains very low given the high need, high impact and cost effectiveness of these investments.

AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

At the time of the first Roadmap, investment in agricultural programs worldwide had reached historic lows, with 500 million farmers worldwide suffering from chronic hunger. In response, the Administration developed the Feed the Future (FTF) Initiative to help farmers in developing countries grow their way out of hunger and find a place as active participants in the agricultural economy. The initiative aims to boost the incomes of agricultural producers by linking them to markets, while simultaneously leveraging these agricultural programs to improve nutrition (growing more nutritious foods, improving storage facilities and coupling agriculture and nutrition in extension programs). This type of value chain programming has proven highly successful at boosting the incomes of small-scale farmers. For example, Catholic Relief Services' ACORDAR program in Nicaragua was able to demonstrate a 44 percent increase in the incomes of farmers after just four years. Projected sales for the five year project are more than \$100 million.46 As a major

purchaser of staple crops,⁴⁷ WFP launched a program to purchase from small-scale farmers called Purchase for Progress (P4P). The pilot program has trained 116,000 small-scale farmers in skills needed for full integration into markets, and has purchased 207,000 metric tons of food from them, valued at more than \$75 million.⁴⁸



Feed the Future also calls for the integration of environmental and climatic considerations, as a crosscutting issue affecting the long-term sustainability of programs and outcomes. While this integration lags behind the integration of gender, USAID is making an effort to increase staff understanding on the importance of integrating natural resource management and climate change considerations into agricultural programs and to promote best practices. Currently, much of the effort in the context of Feed the Future to integrate climate change is focused on research, though more robust integration at the implementation level is needed.

Feed the Future has committed to investing in country owned plans that support results-based programs and partnerships and that build upon country processes such as the African Union's Comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Program (CAADP). All twenty Feed the Future countries have developed implementation plans

⁴⁶ See Annex 3.13 case study.

⁴⁷ In 2010, WFP bought US\$1.25 billion worth of food commodities – more than 80 percent of this in developing countries.

⁴⁸ See Annex 3.14 case study.

which have been reviewed and refined so that each focus country has a multi-year strategy to guide its Feed the Future implementation process. Almost all of the country strategies include gender as a cross-cutting issue and commit to improving the livelihoods of both men and women farmers. In Ghana, the Africa LEAD program has made effective use of the knowledge and skills of small-scale women farmers who are leaders by integrating them into the CAADP process and including their observations in the country plan. Although FTF now includes agriculture programs managed out of Food for Peace in its overall framework, there is much potential to better integrate food aid agriculture programs that focus on small-scale and subsistence farmers into the larger value chain approach of the initiative.

In addition to catalyzing development of country strategies, Feed the Future also has developed a results framework to unify monitoring and evaluation procedures across projects and to ensure increased accountability for donor funds. The US has developed a list of 56 performance indicators to measure progress through the results framework and also plans on undertaking impact evaluations to more fully understand the changes resulting from FTF programs. Almost all of the US agencies involved in implementing food security programs now have systems in place to monitor program results across a set of common outcome indicators designed to measure program impacts.

While this progress is encouraging, significant gaps still exist in the selection of focus countries and regions, and in the integration of Feed the Future within broader US food security programs. The list of countries originally selected for Feed the Future programs included countries with both high levels of hunger and malnutrition, and opportunities for development of agricultural value chains. As a result, many countries with chronic and protracted hunger crises have been excluded from participation in these programs. Likewise, Feed the Future programs often take place in limited geographic areas within the countries selected. For example, in Tanzania, USAID is focusing Feed the Future programs on more wealthy

southern areas of the country, with insufficient attention to how the economic gains sustained there might translate into improved nutrition or food security for the poor and hungry who live in the north. Finally, Feed the Future agricultural development programs will be most impactful when they are connected with and able to leverage other existing US program investments in each country. For example, in Guatemala the USAID mission encouraged partners who were implementing existing food security programs to develop plans that make explicit linkages to Feed the Future. Although households with incomes in the lowest 20 percent are generally not yet able to participate economically in the types of market development promoted by Feed the Future, early integration with other US programs that do target hungry poor people can help ensure that the Feed the Future approach in each country is responsive in some way to the needs of the most vulnerable. Similar efforts at integration in other countries should be encouraged.

Because the vital role of women and girls in global agriculture was fully recognized by the Administration, gender has been fully integrated into agricultural investments. For example, in an effort to understand how FTF is making progress towards gender equality, USAID has developed a Women's Empowerment in Agriculture Index. The Index aims to measure the changes in women's roles and engagement in various agricultural sectors in both quantity and quality. The Index has been piloted in three countries and is being scaled up in early 2012.



⁴⁹ See Annex 3.15 case study.

Finally, Feed the Future is leveraging and aligning the resources of diverse partners, including multilateral institutions, civil society and the private sector. Tapping the expertise of local NGOs, including farmer-based organizations, social accountability organizations and other civil society organizations, that are already implementing agriculture programs in poor communities will boost FTF success at ensuring that agricultural development is inclusive of poor individuals and communities. Similarly, it is important for national governments to create or strengthen mechanisms to provide support to local NGOs carrying out programs with subsistence and small-scale farmers. The creation of public-private partnerships for agricultural development in many target countries holds the potential to allow Feed the Future to actively incorporate the expertise, connections and resources of private sector actors.

The Development Action Association (DAA), a Ghanaian women farmers' organization, has developed a successful model to provide training to small-scale women farmers while also ensuring that their potential and challenges are effectively addressed within the CAADP process in Ghana. Their trainings fill the gap in traditional extension services while also integrating what they learn from farmers into country plans for agricultural development, strengthening the ability of policy and program interventions to achieve impact at the national level. (See Annex 3.15)

INSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURES FOR COORDINATION AND INTEGRATION OF PROGRAMS

The Administration has been committed at the highest levels to integrating global programs to end hunger. From the start, the Administration prioritized coordination through an active Interagency process. Leaders were identified at State, USAID, USDA and other stakeholder agencies to drive the process forward and to create greater synergies between US programs. The Interagency process has remained ongoing and meetings are still held with regularity with strong participation of stakeholders. There are now coordinating positions for food security at both State and USAID, with USAID designated as the lead implementing agency for Feed the Future. To this end, USAID has created a new Bureau — the Bureau of Food Security — to spearhead efforts.

However, despite these improvements, coordination of US food security programs has been hampered by numerous transformations over the last several years as well as frequent changes in leadership. Fuller integration of US efforts remains a challenge, especially given the multiple agencies involved in programs, the multiple budget streams and the many Congressional Committees with jurisdiction over global programs to fight hunger.

In addition, a number of improvements can be made to increase impacts of US global food security efforts. The progress over the last three years has produced volumes of new evidence on the most effective approaches for reducing hunger and malnutrition, providing a significantly stronger base of knowledge to orient future policies and programs. The following recommendations draw upon these advances to identify concrete recommendations to orient future US efforts.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR US POLICYMAKERS

1. CONTINUE TO LEAD THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY ON GLOBAL FOOD SECURITY BY PROVIDING ROBUST SUPPORT FOR PROGRAMS

To continue to build upon the dramatic progress in US programs to alleviate global hunger, sustained investment is required. To effectively address current and future global food security needs, we recommend US investments of \$5 billion annually. While this represents an increase of \$1.4 billion over the average funding from 2009 - 2012, this would still constitute only 0.14 percent of the total US budget, or just over one tenth of 1 percent.⁵⁰ It is clear that recent US investments in global health programs have generated significant impact: the same investment approach is needed to catalyze similar improvements in the state of global food security. This level of investment will support all elements of a comprehensive approach, in order to effectively address acute hunger through emergency programs and the root causes of chronic hunger through safety net, nutrition and agricultural development programs.⁵¹

EMERGENCY PROGRAMS

An estimated 85 million people will require emergency food assistance in 2012, with a total cost of \$6.5 billion. A number of trends highlight the continuing need for strong emergency response. The number of natural disasters has risen steadily from an average of 100

each year in the 1980s to more than 350 each year since 2000, with droughts and flooding threatening the food security of tens of millions of people each year. In addition, conflicts continue to rage on in many parts of the world, bringing the number of internally displaced persons to almost 30 million, and driving refugee numbers to a 15-year high. Finally, high and volatile food and fuel prices make it more difficult for those in developing countries who spend 80 percent of their income on food to have stable access to the calories and nutrients required to live healthy, productive lives.

At present, emergency programs are funded primarily through the International Disaster Assistance (IDA) account and Food for Peace. Funding from the IDA account supports cash-based emergency food assistance for local and regional procurement of food in places where market conditions make this a faster and more cost effective option. Food for Peace emergency programs provide US commodities to meet emergency needs. Given rising emergency needs, a total of \$1.9 billion across all relevant accounts is recommended. This would allow the US to continue the historical tradition of providing resources to meet roughly 30 percent of emergency needs worldwide, leveraging the support of other donors to share the burden of effective international humanitarian response.

 $^{^{\}rm 50}\,$ Based on FY11 total US budget of \$3.6 trillion, as reported by the CBO.

 $^{^{51}\,}$ A one page budget summary chart is included as Annex 5.

EMERGENCY PROGRAMS		
ACCOUNT	RECOMMENDED FUNDING	
Food for Peace Emergency Programs	\$ 1.4 billion	
International Development Assistance Emergency Food Security Program	\$ 500 million	
TOTAL	\$ 1.9 billion	

SAFETY NET PROGRAMS AND SYSTEMS

There are an estimated 925 million people who suffer from chronic hunger and malnutrition. Many of them live in countries that are in a state of protracted crisis: places where the cycle of conflict, natural disasters and grinding poverty has been continuous over decades. According to World Bank statistics on progress towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDG), there are more than 171 million people suffering from chronic hunger and malnutrition in the 22 countries that remain farthest from the MDG goal of halving hunger by 2015. To reach these people with integrated programs providing safety net, nutrition and other support would cost approximately \$8.7 billion annually.⁵²

In this context, safety nets provide invaluable support to ensure that vulnerable people do not fall deeper into poverty each time a crisis, disaster or conflict occurs. Safety nets help people to build resilience to shocks and to recover more quickly afterwards, as well as helping to avert more serious emergencies and crises. For example, during the crisis in the Horn of Africa in 2011, those communities that were benefitting from effective safety net programs and systems were less likely to suffer the worst impacts of drought and were quicker to recover, limiting the need for more costly emergency response. Safety net programs include food for work, cash for work

and school feeding programs. In countries where national governments have capacity, *national safety* net **systems** can also be piloted and developed, with host governments assuming control of the systems and providing financing for them.

Safety net **programs** are currently funded through Food for Peace non-emergency programs, which also include some nutrition and agriculture programming targeting poor households and communities.

Other safety net programs are funded through the Development Assistance account and through the McGovern-Dole International Food for Education and Child Nutrition program. A total of \$800 million across all relevant accounts is recommended given the impact that the development of safety nets has shown in effectively reducing chronic hunger.

Food for Peace non-emergency *programs*, funded in part by monetized Title II commodities, have proven highly effective at targeting chronically hungry people to promote development, improve child nutrition, and build resilience. This type of programming warrants continued US support, but should be made more efficient by increasing flexibility and reducing reliance on monetization. Over the past two years a small but growing amount of funding has been provided for these programs focused on the chronically hungry and poor through the Community Development Fund (CDF) within the Development Assistance Account. If CDF funding increases further, it could provide a useful source of direct support for development programs that target the hungry poor and the most vulnerable, and could complement existing Title II resources while reducing losses from monetization cost recovery. An increased CDF could provide additional US support for programs that are designed to ensure that vulnerable populations are able to build household and community assets, suffer less serious impacts from economic and environmental shocks, and therefore build capacity to participate in rural economic growth. These investments also serve to prevent hunger and malnutrition, lessening the need for emergency interventions over time. To increase the effectiveness

⁵² This figure is based upon total needs as assessed by World Bank Statistics and average program cost based upon funding and beneficiary information from Food for Peace programs from 2008 - 2010. See complete chart in Annex 4.

of the CDF and ensure programming is harmonized with existing Title II food aid programs, we recommend the CDF be managed by the Office of Food for Peace.

The US also provides support for safety net **programs** through the McGovern-Dole International Food for Education and Child Nutrition program. School feeding programs increase school enrollment and ensure that children who attend receive at least one nutritious meal each day. Through providing takehome rations for children under the age of five, school feeding programs can also improve early childhood nutrition, reduce the rate of underweight children and ensure that girls enroll in and attend school. School feeding programs are a vital tool for reaching the 66 million children who go to school hungry every day and for providing incentives for the additional 67 million children who are not enrolled in school to enroll and attend. It costs just 25 cents a day to provide a child a nutritious meal at school, or about \$3.2 billion a year to cover global need for those children already in school. We recommend \$300 million of US support, which would cover 10 percent of the global cost to reach hungry children who are enrolled through school feeding programs. In addition, the US should promote increased sustainability of school feeding programs by supporting linkages with local agricultural producers who are well positioned to market their produce to participating schools so that children can have access to fresh, nutritious foods that are grown locally or regionally. Development of effective linkages between schools and local producers will also provide vital market stimulus for increased farm production, thereby boosting local economies. These linkages will also foster graduation of school feeding programs to national government management and financing.

Supporting development of *national safety net systems* that host governments can sustain is also a key element of reducing global hunger. For example, the national safety net system developed in Brazil costs the Brazilian government roughly 0.3 percent of GDP, yet over the six years between 2003 and 2009, this system helped lift 12.6 million people out of poverty and reduced the rate of underweight children by 50 percent. While it is envisioned that

these national safety net systems would be financed by host governments, the US can utilize the country-led planning process and other international diplomacy efforts to continue to promote development of safety net systems. In countries that do not yet have the institutional capacity to develop national safety nets, the US can provide technical assistance and program support to incentivize safety net system development, working with host governments and where appropriate donors and multilateral institutions in order to assume control and financing for these systems over a several year period.

SAFETY NET PROGRAMS		
ACCOUNT	RECOMMENDED FUNDING	
Food for Peace Non-emergency Programs / CDF within DA*	\$ 500 million	
McGovern-Dole International Food for Education and Child Nutrition**	\$ 300 million	
TOTAL	\$ 800 million	

- * In FY2013, the Administration's budget request indicates a \$60 million request for the Community Development Fund that would provide direct program funding to the same types of programs financed through monetizing commodities provided through Food for Peace for nonemergency programs. The total of \$500 million indicates the total required for this program area, with the understanding that as the Community Development Fund develops and is more fully funded, a greater percentage of resources will be provided in direct program funding.
- ** The McGovern-Dole International Food for Education and Child Nutrition Program is authorized to also reach children younger than school-age, and should be funded and implemented to do so, particularly during the critical 1,000 day window from pregnancy to age two.

NUTRITION PROGRAMS

Each year 3.5 million children die from malnutrition while another 170 million suffer serious, often irreversible, cognitive and physical damage from chronic malnutrition. The World Bank has recommended urgent action to scale up the prevention of malnutrition and estimates that full scale-up to address malnutrition by promoting good nutrition practices and increasing vitamin and mineral intake, particularly for women and children in the 1,000 day window from pregnancy to age two, will cost \$4.4 billion per year. An investment of \$450 million would allow the US to contribute roughly 10 percent of the total global cost for scaling up programs to promote good nutrition practices and increase vitamin and mineral intake in the countries with the highest burden of malnutrition, positively impacting as many as 356 million children under the age of five.

The US currently funds nutrition programs out of a variety of accounts, including Global Health, PEPFAR, Food for Peace, Development Assistance and others. Because nutrition is a building block for all other programs, we recommend that nutrition be effectively integrated into all food security programs and funded directly from those program funds. In addition, we recommend development of more consistent and transparent tracking of US investments in nutrition across accounts. Given the importance and cost effectiveness of nutrition interventions, a total of \$450 million annually is recommended specifically for nutrition programs to scale up critical interventions in the countries with the highest burden of malnutrition.

NUTRITION PROGRAMS	
ACCOUNT	RECOMMENDED FUNDING
Global Health	\$ 450 million*
TOTAL	\$ 450 million

^{*} The World Bank identifies nutrition as the world's most serious health problem and the biggest single contributor to child mortality. We recommend additional funding to address nutrition within the global health account, recognizing that this will require an overall increase in the account to ensure sustained support for other valuable and complementary health programs

AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

To adequately address hunger, it is vital that the US continue to support agricultural development programs that ensure nutrition outcomes. Investment in agriculture will serve to boost GDP and incomes in developing countries around the world as well as providing more food for local, regional and international consumption. Increasing production is a challenge of global proportions that the US must help to address. To satisfy the demand that will be created as the population grows to a projected 9 billion people by 2050, food production must grow by 60 percent over 2005 - 2007 levels. Meeting this challenge will require substantial international investment to improve the productivity of both commercial and small-scale farming, and to address the challenges in post-harvest storage and transportation. Finally, in the face of increased weather events and price volatility, the effectiveness of agricultural development programs will increasingly depend upon investments in building resilience and increasing capacity to adapt to a changing climate.

However, increased food production is only part of the solution when it comes to reducing hunger. For the past several decades the world has produced more than enough food to meet the caloric and nutritional needs of everyone on earth, yet almost a billion people have continued to suffer from hunger and malnutrition. For agricultural development programs to contribute to reducing hunger, they must also address the specific needs of the vast majority of the world's chronically hungry people who are small-scale farmers that remain unable to provide sufficient access to nutritious food to guarantee food security for themselves and their families. For example, it is estimated that if women had the same access to agricultural inputs as men, they could increase their production by 20 percent to 30 percent, reducing the number of chronically hungry people in the world by 100 million to 150 million.⁵³

⁵³ FAO, Statistical Yearbook, 2012.

AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS		
ACCOUNT	RECOMMENDED FUNDING	
Development Assistance - Feed the Future agricultural development/nutrition	\$ 1.3 billion	
Development Assistance - Resilience programs*	\$ 200 million	
Adaptation funding**	\$ 200 million	
World Bank Global Agriculture and Food Security Program multilateral trust	\$ 150 million	
TOTAL	\$ 1.85 billion	

^{*} See recommendation 3 for a more complete description of resiliency programs.

The capacities and needs of small-scale farmers must continue to inform all US agricultural development investments.

The US currently funds agricultural development through the Development Assistance account, the MCC, Food for Peace non-emergency programs, the Global Agriculture and Food Security Program and other accounts. Given the importance of agricultural development for feeding a growing world population and reducing chronic and acute hunger, a total of \$1.85 billion across all relevant accounts is recommended.

2. ESTABLISH CLEAR LEADERSHIP ROLES TO MORE EFFECTIVELY COORDINATE AND INTEGRATE US GLOBAL FOOD SECURITY PROGRAMS.

While there has been remarkable progress over the past three years in increasing the coordination of various US supported global food security programs, the overall US effort would benefit from further integration of programs with consistent leadership across all agencies. All US efforts should be structured and supported by an overall strategic plan for increasing global food security that details the roles for all of the agencies involved. While USAID should continue to play the role of lead implementing agency for global food security efforts, the Interagency process should be led by the National Security Council (NSC), with the national security advisor designating a senior director to oversee the development and evaluation of US food security investments worldwide. In the alternative, a Council on Global Food Security could be established with a global food security coordinator

reporting to the president and the secretary of state. The coordinator would be responsible for overseeing development and implementation of a government-wide strategy to address global hunger and malnutrition, with corresponding budget authority over all global food security programs.

The State Department should continue to play an essential role in pressing for increased contributions from other donor nations to build stronger international capacity to respond to emergencies and to enhance ongoing programs to ensure increased agricultural production and effective nutrition programs. The US should maintain our current diplomatic leadership in promoting global food security. As the US aims to promote country-led planning processes, the role of US ambassadors is essential in promoting global food

^{**} Adaptation funding includes allocations through the Development Assistance Account to USAID and State, the Economic Support Fund for the Least Developed Countries Fund and the Strategic Climate Fund and the Multilateral Account for the Pilot Program on Climate Resilience at the World Bank

security. To this end, ambassadors should work with host country government officials to stress the importance of food security as a US policy priority and ensure that host country governments at the highest level develop coordinated, integrated plans to support policies and programs that alleviate hunger.

As a core component of ongoing coordination efforts, the US should continue to develop the Feed the Future results framework. In future iterations of the framework, indicators should be developed to better measure and track the stability of food security and to better measure impacts of safety net and resilience programs.

3. SUPPORT PROGRAMS THAT BUILD THE RESILIENCE OF PEOPLE TO RESIST SHOCKS AND TO RECOVER MORE QUICKLY AND FULLY, THEREBY REDUCING FUTURE EMERGENCY RELIEF NEEDS.

With the growth in the number of natural disasters particularly floods and droughts — emergency needs continue to increase. Rising and volatile food and fuel prices promise to make emergency response increasingly expensive. In addition, a total of 1.5 billion people live in states that are mired in conflict, with fragile state structures. These countries are 40 percent to 60 percent behind other low income countries on achieving progress towards the Millennium Development Goals. As of 2010, the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) identified 22 countries as being in a state of protracted crisis, defined as "those environments in which a significant proportion of the population is acutely vulnerable to death, disease and disruption of livelihoods over a prolonged period of time."54 Given this situation, it is clear that if current trends continue, emergency needs will far outstrip available donor resources for effective response. For this reason, increased investment must be made in mitigating the impacts of environmental and economic crises and breaking the cycle of protracted emergency situations.

Unfortunately, there has traditionally been a gap between emergency funding — which generally lasts for three to six months after a crisis — and long-term development funding. Most communities are not yet ready for long-term development programming only six months after a natural disaster or conflict,

and they are often unable to access support to help them move on from the emergency stage and to fully recover. While a range of programs have proven highly effective at reducing the need for repeated, costly emergency interventions, there is not, at present, a dedicated funding stream focused on supporting early and appropriate response and quick recovery activities intended to build resilience to natural and man-made shocks.

In addition, the majority of hungry people are women and children who are dependent on healthy ecosystems for their incomes and access to food. These same populations are often among the most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. Food production depends on a range of ecosystem services and processes, yet climate change threatens to negatively impact water availability, the spread of pests and diseases and crop yields. These impacts could leave as many as 25 million additional children undernourished by 2050⁵⁵, while decreased crop yields can also lower incomes or lead to higher prices for food. To promote the health of ecosystems and protect the sustainability of natural processes and biodiversity, sustainable agricultural practices should be promoted and programs should include environmental assessments. Vulnerability assessments that include consideration of social, political, economic and environmental considerations should be integrated

⁵⁴ FAO, Statistical Yearbook, 2012.

⁵⁵ Nelson, G., et. al. Climate Change: Impacts on Agriculture and Costs of Adaptation. International Food Policy Research Institute. 2009.

to ensure that the needs of the most vulnerable are targeted. Capacity building to enable communities to represent their needs in local and national planning processes, including the development of food security and development strategies, should be prioritized. Program planning should include climate projections to verify the long-term viability of agricultural development, and these projections and other climatic information should be available to farmers in a form they can access and understand. These interventions will increase communities' resilience and enhance their ability to respond proactively to increasing variability in their climatic conditions.

Building resilience — reducing the impacts of natural disasters and food price shocks, enhancing local capacity for emergency response and promoting the sustainable development for poor and vulnerable

households — has been proven to reduce the need for repeated, costly emergency interventions. To ensure that US-supported programs are building resilience, food security program planning should integrate staff from both emergency and long-term development programs to jointly address emergency needs, promote recovery and build resilience to future shocks. To promote integrated planning and programming, we recommend that funding is made available through the Development Assistance account that would be jointly programmed by US staff in countries at high risk of suffering crises — including relevant staff from USAID (Bureau of Food Security, Democracy, Conflict and Humanitarian Affairs, and other relevant Bureaus,) USDA (McGovern-Dole and Food for Progress) and other operational agencies — who would jointly set goals, develop programs and evaluate results.

4. SUPPORT EFFECTIVE SAFETY NET PROGRAMS AND BUILD THE CAPACITY OF HOST GOVERNMENTS TO DEVELOP AND DEPLOY THEIR OWN NATIONAL SAFETY NET SYSTEMS.

Research is demonstrating that targeted safety nets and disaster risk reduction programs can build and protect human capital and productive assets, strengthen community resilience, mitigate the impact of external shocks and contribute powerfully to longer-term growth and poverty alleviation. Many governments are developing national policies and frameworks to protect the most vulnerable people from shocks and aid them in recovery, with countries like Brazil demonstrating significant impacts from their investments.

The US should increase support for such initiatives and work with partners to build the capacity of governments to develop and manage strong safety net systems that connect, integrate and expand existing programs to meet food and nutrition security objectives. One key way to do this would be to encourage inclusion of safety net programs and systems into country-led food security plans, developing timelines for programs to "graduate" to local and national government financing and management. The US could also increase the sustainability of the McGovern-Dole school feeding program by expanding the use of local and regional procurement within this program so that governments can fully take over school feeding and continue to provide meals to school children without a need for external donor support. In the last several decades more than 37 countries have assumed responsibility for school feeding programs and have continued to operate them without external donor resources.

5. STRENGTHEN AND INSTITUTIONALIZE THE FOCUS ON NUTRITION ACROSS ALL US PROGRAMS.

This is a critical time to build on progress made to date on integrating nutrition into development and health programs, as well as to invest in significant reductions in child malnutrition. Because nutrition is a vital component of all other types of food security as well as global health programs, coordination and integration is critical. We recommend the establishment of a high-level focal point for global nutrition that has authority across relevant USG agencies, as each of the Scaling Up Nutrition partner countries are required to do. A Global Food Security Coordinator or Council should also ensure that nutrition is a core component of the overall US food security strategy. Further, an overarching, publicly available global nutrition strategy will be critical and should define interagency and inter-initiative roles, mechanisms for coordination, funding, nutrition impact targets and field guidance on nutrition, including monitoring and evaluation. We applaud the inclusion of nutrition across some accounts in budget documents and urge further definition of a transparent nutrition budget across initiatives and accounts, including Feed the Future, Global Health Initiative, Food for Peace, PEPFAR, MCC and USDA

USAID should continue to invest in development of field guidance to improve nutrition outcomes of programs, including guidance related to improving the nutritional quality of US food aid. USAID should also invest in documenting and disseminating best practices for ensuring that agricultural interventions have a measurable impact on nutrition — especially during the 1,000 day window from pregnancy to age two, and during other critical stages of the life cycle so that future funding can be directed to evidencebased approaches. Further, USAID and USDA should continue to fully implement the recommendations in the 2010 Tufts Food Aid Quality Review as well as the recommendations in the May 2011 Government Accountability Office (GAO) report on improving the nutritional quality of food aid.

Finally, the US should allow for local fortification and bagging of commodities in the countries where they will be distributed, creating local industries and enhancing the nutritional content of the food while also reducing the costs of fortification. This will also allow for increased fortification overall.

6. A SHIFT TO A COUNTRY-LED MODEL OF DEVELOPMENT WILL REQUIRE THE US TO DEVELOP NEW CAPACITIES TO ENCOURAGE INVOLVEMENT OF ALL STAKEHOLDERS IN PLANNING AND TO UTILIZE PLANS TO PROMOTE EFFECTIVE DONOR COORDINATION AND INCREASED TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY.

The country-led model requires active participation of both government and nongovernment stakeholders in charting a course for development. While promising, this model will take time to fully develop because many countries are characterized by weak state capacity to meet basic needs, nascent civil societies operating in constrained political spaces, limited private sector participation and insufficient trust among government, private sector and civil society actors. Because the first round of country-led plans were developed rapidly and often with limited public participation, many of them

focus almost exclusively on promoting agricultural development, with far less attention paid to the development of nutritional interventions or national safety net systems. Important groups of stakeholders have been left out of many country planning processes.

To address this problem and strengthen countryled plans, the US should strongly encourage the development and implementation of planning processes that involve all relevant stakeholders in identifying and addressing food security issues at all stages of the program cycle. Given the role of women in agriculture in developing countries and their relative lack of access to productive resources, the USG should place a special emphasis on understanding and meeting the special needs of poor and marginalized women. The US should continue to encourage the inclusion of gender, natural resource management and climate change considerations into country-led plans. Several countries, including Ghana, are in different stages of developing national civil society coordination mechanisms to encourage the participation of stakeholders in the ongoing development of national food security plans. The US should encourage and support these efforts. Finally, a wealth of positive models for increasing food security in developing and middle income countries could be effectively shared through South-South exchange programs to strengthen country planning processes.

To ensure that country-led planning processes support the US policy goal of reducing hunger, the US should identify national laws, policies and conditions that have been shown to be the most conducive to

advancing food security. Country-led plans should be reviewed, with meaningful stakeholder participation, to determine if they adequately address the legal and institutional constraints that limit opportunities for smallholder food producers to lift themselves out of poverty. Through development and diplomatic interventions, the US can press for progress in national laws, policies and conditions that create a pro-poor enabling environment. The country-led planning process provides a strong opportunity for encouraging more robust support for resilience programs, national safety net systems and Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) implementation efforts.

Finally, the criteria for the selection of focus countries and zones of influence for US programs should be clear, transparent and focused on reaching the food insecure. Food security programs should be implemented in areas where they can have the greatest impact on reducing hunger and malnutrition, especially in the 36 countries where 90 percent of stunted children live.

ANNEXES

ANNEX 1

SUMMARY OF THE HISTORY OF BIPARTISAN SUPPORT FOR US GLOBAL LEADERSHIP IN ADDRESSING WORLD HUNGER AND MALNUTRITION

The US government has been a global leader in responding to world hunger since 1812 when President James Madison sent emergency food aid to earthquake victims in Venezuela. Bold and timely action by both Democratic and Republican Administrations — and bipartisan support from Congress — have since provided leadership for emergency food assistance and longer term development, agricultural and nutrition programs to alleviate acute and chronic hunger and malnutrition.

US government relief and food assistance began in earnest during the early years of the 20th century under the leadership of President Herbert Hoover. Prior to becoming president, Hoover launched the Committee for Relief in Belgium in 1915, saving the lives of seven million Belgians and two million French citizens during World War I. He then established the United States Food Administration and the American Relief Administration (ARA). These agencies provided humanitarian assistance to 23 war-torn European countries in the horrific aftermath of World War I. This vital outreach included Russia, where a devastating famine broke out in 1921. The ARA fed 10.5 million people daily in Russia and was comprised of a combination of funding provided by Congress and private donations from the American people.

After World War II, President Harry Truman selected former President Hoover to recommend approaches to rebuild war-torn Europe. The response included school meals programs and a range of other food assistance programs in 1947 and laid the foundation for the Marshall Plan that commenced in 1948-1949. The Marshall Plan, named after Secretary of State George Marshall, also received bipartisan support from a Republican-led Congress, with Truman's Democratic White House administering the plan. The Marshall Plan's large scale agricultural and industrial infrastructure investments provided a powerful goodwill dividend for the United States in the postwar era and ushered in a new era of American global leadership.

In 1954, at the start of the Cold War, Republican President Dwight D. Eisenhower signed into law the Agricultural Trade Development Assistance Act (Public Law 480) to provide reliable food assistance and agricultural produce to the developing world. Subsequently, Democratic President John F. Kennedy built upon Public Law 480, renaming it "Food for Peace" and placing it within the newly created US Agency for International Development (USAID). At USAID, Food for Peace has provided food for billions of people over the past 57 years, assisting them during

famine and providing longer term development assistance for food security by funding programs that address underlying causes of hunger.

Support for food security, agriculture and nutrition programs have continued with subsequent US administrations. The Bill Emerson Humanitarian Trust is a food reserve to allow the United States to respond to unanticipated food emergencies. The reserve was originally authorized by the Agricultural Trade Act of 1980 as the Food Security Wheat Reserve. Subsequent legislation in 1998 renamed the reserve as the Bill Emerson Humanitarian Trust. Under the Clinton Administration, the USDA administered McGovern-

Dole Global Food for Education and Nutrition Program garnered solid bipartisan support for programs to enable children to receive a meal at school, thereby improving both the nutrition and the education of tens of millions of children worldwide. More recently, the Bush Administration's Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) has worked with developing country governments to agree on five-year compacts to implement agriculture, road and irrigation projects in support of market focused and sustainable food production that also supports basic food security objectives. The MCC has also recently signed a compact with Indonesia that includes significant investments in nutrition programs.

ANNEX 2

PROGRAM INTEGRATION: HOW EMERGENCY, SAFETY NET, NUTRITION AND AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS WORK TOGETHER TO SUPPORT GLOBAL FOOD SECURITY

Technical definitions of food security rely upon the measurement of indicators related to four interdependent factors. To be food secure, a person needs adequate, safe and nutritious food to be available; they need the ability to access this food; they need the physical capacity to utilize this food; and the food production and distribution system must

be **stable** enough to guarantee availability, access and utilization on an ongoing basis. This diagram uses color coding to illustrate how all four types of programs suggested in the comprehensive approach to food security outlined in the Roadmap contribute to food security. (Emergency Response and Management, Safety Nets, Nutrition and Agricultural Development)

AVAILABILITY

- Agricultural development to increase sustainable local / regional food production
- Integrated agriculture and nutrition activities to increase dietary diversity
- Local and regional procurement for emergencies and to support markets
- Unconditional safety nets to offset seasonal food shortages

STABILITY

- Macroeconomic and trade policies to stabilize markets
- Disaster risk reduction, vulnerability mapping and early warning systems
- Food reserves

Food security exists when all people, at all times, have physical and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life.

- 1996 World Food Summit

ACCESS

- Income generation
- Linking producers to markets and trade
- Emergency food assistance and school feeding
- Social protection

UTILIZATION

- Targeted nutritional interventions, based on life cycle and for first 1000 days
- Access to clean water and safe cookstoves
- Basic health services and community-based nutrition promotion

To be effective, integrated food security programs must be supported by an enabling environment that includes policies to address governance and rights, land tenure, women's rights and trade.

PRODUCTIVE SAFETY NET PROGRAM (PSNP)

Government of Ethiopia, with International NGOs, Ethiopia

Impact

More than seven million Ethiopians receive food and cash transfers and have been able to increase their food availability by up to one and a half months. They have also been able to increase their livestock assets from 0.4 to one additional animal.⁵⁶ By increasing food security and assets, the most poor and vulnerable people in Ethiopia have been able to improve their resilience, preparing them to better cope with adverse events, such as the food price crisis and drought.

How this Impact was Achieved

With support from the Food for Peace office of USAID (non-emergency), the PSNP is a government-led approach that is both long-term and far reaching. It has provided predictable food or cash to the most poor and vulnerable people in targeted *woredas* or communities since 2005. It also works alongside a Household Asset-building Program (HAP), which has been shown to have additive impacts on food security and asset creation by linking participants with technical advice, improved access to credit and working capital.

NGO programs which complement and work alongside PSNP activities also have shown to increase benefits to beneficiaries. For example, CARE's Household Income Building and Rural Empowerment for Transformation Program — which aims to protect poor households while preventing asset depletion level through community self-help savings groups, market linkage nodes and marketing cooperatives and water and sanitation committees activities — has shown an increase of 1.67 months of food availability in beneficiary households. Catholic Relief Services similarly works alongside the PSNP in long-term

efforts to improve nutrition outcomes of food insecure households and links them to markets through the provision of seeds and other agricultural inputs. The program is ongoing and results will be collected in 2013.

The Key Lesson

A long-term approach, with government leadership and international support, is essential for social protection programming to build resilience in populations that have historically met adverse climate situations. Parallel programming by civil society that can focus on the distinct needs of the most poor and vulnerable people can have additive impacts on beneficiaries.

⁵⁶ Gilligan et al. The Impact of Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Programme and its Linkages. International Food Policy Research Institute, 2008.

MERET: LAND REGENERATION IN ETHIOPIA

World Food Programme (WFP) with the Government of Ethiopia

Impact

WFP has supported the Ethiopian government to sustain the livelihoods of more than 1.5 million people by rehabilitating 2.5 million hectares of degraded land and restoring the ecosystem through Ethiopia's land regeneration program called MERET (Managing Environmental Resources to Enable Transitions to More Sustainable Livelihoods). MERET has achieved increased food production and has mitigated harsh impacts of environmental shocks for previously food insecure communities

- Food shortage has declined by 50 percent in the localities embraced by the project where successful, integrated watershed management activities are undertaken
- Eighty-five percent of the participating households in the project have managed to boost their capability to cope with drought.

How this Impact was Achieved

Some 84 percent of the population lives in rural areas and is mainly engaged in rain-fed, subsistence agriculture. Thus, food insecurity in Ethiopia is linked mainly to the pattern of rainfall, land degradation, low levels of investment in rural areas and population density. However, by rehabilitating the production capacity of degraded lands, communities supported by MERET have greatly reduced soil erosion, improved the fertility of soil and increased the availability of water in order to become productive, resilient and self-sufficient.

Together with funding and implementing partners WFP, FAO, the UN Development Programme (UNDP), the German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ) and the World Bank, and in collaboration with the Ethiopian Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development and local communities, WFP has integrated time-honored *food for work* activities with improved farming practices and better use of land and water resources to achieve higher agricultural productivity while conserving land and water. Key activities of the MERET program include soil and water conservation, community-based integrated watershed management, tree plantation and water harvesting activities.

The Key Lessons

Disaster Risk Reduction: At the UN Summit on Climate Change in Cancun in 2012, MERET was heralded as a model for climate change adaptation and mitigation that should be shared and replicated across the environmentally degraded areas of Africa. It is hoped that lessons from MERET can inform disaster risk reduction programming in contexts of recurrent weather-related hazards. To ensure that vulnerable households remain food secure despite climate variability, it is essential to build assets that contribute to resilience to shocks, improved food security and enhanced livelihoods.

Local Ownership: One reason for MERET's success is that it is fully owned and implemented by the government of Ethiopia and communities, with support from WFP and international donors. WFP supports national efforts to improve food security by protecting livelihoods and building resilience to climate shocks through locally driven interventions, including income generation, asset creation, environmental conservation, land management, water harvesting and climate-proof infrastructure development. Communities are at the center of the decision making, using a participatory planning approach and local knowledge.

LOCAL AND REGIONAL PROCUREMENT: KYRGYZSTAN

Mercy Corps, Kyrgyzstan

Impact

Mercy Corps' Kyrgyzstan Emergency Food Assistance program demonstrated a rapid and cost effective impact on food security for IDPs, host families and other populations affected by the 2010 ethnic conflict in Kyrgyzstan. With funding from USAID / Food for Peace's Emergency Food Security Program, cash grants were provided to these groups and reached beneficiaries 26 days after the signing of the agreement. Food purchased through the LRP program also demonstrated a 24 percent cost savings when compared to the same food basket through a Food for Peace commodity program, due to savings in commodity costs, shipping, inland rates and additional distribution expenditures such as warehousing. After the cash transfer, 87 percent of households reported having food stocks compared to 64 percent prior to the program and reported using the cash to purchase food such as flour, oil, meat, sugar, milk and eggs. Moreover, cash spent on energy costs for cooking also contributed significantly to food security of the target groups. Over the life of the program, market prices of staple food items did not increase disproportionately to the local baseline and world food prices.

How this Impact was Achieved

Because markets were operating 10 days after the onset of the ethnic conflict, sufficient goods were available locally and target groups were already accustomed to purchasing essential goods and services through market mechanisms. A pre-existing partnership with a local microfinance institution also allowed for safe delivery of the cash transfers.

The Key Lesson

Under the right conditions, cash distributions can be a rapid and efficient mechanism for improving food security. Cash transfers can get food to beneficiaries faster than commodity shipments, which typically take from four to six months to reach those in need. Savings in procurement, transfer and distribution costs result in comparative value for money. Cash allows beneficiaries to self-select purchases allowing for variation in need and promoting empowerment and dignity, all while supporting local markets.

FROM CONFLICT TO COPING: HOW PEACEBUILDING PROGRAMMING PROMOTED DROUGHT RESILIENCE IN ETHIOPIA

Mercy Corps, Ethiopia

Impact

Mercy Corps' Strengthening Institutions for Peace and Development (SIPED) program, funded by USAID, demonstrated linkages between peacebuilding impacts and drought resilience in Ethiopia. The impact of conflict on community coping strategies has long been recognized as a factor in resilience, but the link between peacebuilding interventions and resilience has not been widely explored. During the 2011 drought, Mercy Corps conducted research comparing Ethiopian pastoralist and agro-pastoralist groups in SIPED program areas to similar communities outside the SIPED program.

The research found that drought-affected communities where peacebuilding interventions had been successful were better able to cope with harsh conditions and resorted less frequently to destructive coping mechanisms such as productive asset stripping. The findings showed that the improvements to freedom of movement increased by 15 percent in target communities over the life of the program: the resulting access to water, pasture and other natural resources was a key contributing factor to household drought resilience.

The program demonstrated that the occurrence of conflict-related obstacles to livestock and access to pasture and water was decreased by half, primarily through the facilitation of negotiated agreements leading to improved co-management of resources. Moreover, groups with greater freedom of movement and access to natural resources proved to be less likely to rely on negative coping mechanisms in response to the extreme drought and were able to employ more adaptive capacities compared to groups without such access. For example, households that were unable

to access pastures or water for their animals due to insecurity were nearly four times more likely to have resorted to killing their calves during the recent drought than households which did not experience such conflict-related barriers.

How this Impact was Achieved

The conflict management and mitigation programming addressed root causes of inter-communal conflict, which overlapped significantly with elements of drought resilience. The program focused on linkages between informal and formal governance and peace institutions, reconciliation processes leading to localized peace agreements and joint livelihoods projects to build cooperation and address violence. Improved security and social cohesion stemming from these interventions appears to have contributed to the increased freedom of movement and enabled better access to public resources that pastoralist groups depend on to cope with and adapt to severe drought, also facilitating market access. These improvements allowed target communities to exercise positive coping mechanisms and thereby preserve their productive asset base.

The Key Lesson

Peacebuilding programming in areas that are vulnerable to food security shocks can create conditions that help mitigate the effects of such shocks and speed their recovery. Lessons drawn from peacebuilding programming in conflict affected pastoralist areas of the Horn of Africa should be considered and utilized in the design and implementation of other programs focused on strengthening resilience in similar contexts.

COUNTRY LEADERSHIP IN REDUCING HUNGER: BRAZIL'S SOCIAL SAFETY NET PROGRAM

Government of Brazil

Impact

From 2003 to 2009, Bolsa Familia, one part of Brazil's government program *Fome Zero*, helped lift 12.6 million people out of poverty and to reduce the rate of inequality from 22 percent to 7 percent. The program also greatly reduced the level of malnutrition throughout the country, reducing the prevalence of underweight children by half, and put the country on track to halve the rate of hunger before 2015.

The program has shown positive impacts on employment, education and health: school attendance increased by 4.4 percent, participating pregnant women had 1.5 more prenatal visits with a healthcare professional than their non-participant counterparts and infants were more likely to receive their vaccinations on schedule. The program targeted women and mothers, influencing gender roles and empowering women.

Since the introduction of Bolsa Familia, many countries worldwide have followed suit to implement their own social safety net programs, including 16 other Latin American countries, Ethiopia, India and China. Because the greatest numbers of people suffering from hunger live in India and China, adaptation and replication of this model may prove to be one of the largest contributors to reducing global hunger.

How this Impact was Achieved

One-third of Brazil's export earnings come from agriculture, yet in 2004, 72 million of its 185 million residents were affected by food insecurity. Recognizing that poverty and food insecurity could be addressed from multiple sides — improving agriculture and production for the poor on the one hand, but also increasing access to food and basic necessities through a social safety net — the government of Brazil implemented Bolsa Familia, a conditional cash

transfer program. In exchange for regular transfers, Bolsa Familia requires poor households to fulfill certain human development requirements, such as child school attendance, vaccinations, nutritional monitoring, prenatal and post natal tests.

Recently the government also has incorporated the program into its anti-crisis package, which will help mitigate impact of crises on the most poor and vulnerable people, and will ensure that consumption levels of food are maintained.

The program success was largely due to the government of Brazil's right to food policies and predictable funding to focus on the needs of poor people. The Bolsa Familia program costs around 0.3 percent of Brazil's GDP, yet has seen great achievements. Civil society organizations also have been heavily involved in these efforts, ensuring that the legislature enacted appropriate policies and funding to implement the social safety net programs.

The Key Lessons

A focus on Access to Food can generate high

impact. Social safety net programs can successfully increase a household's access to food through the provision of cash resources to the most poor and vulnerable people. Linking these programs to conditionalities can also create additive impacts on other areas including health, education and nutrition.

Strong leadership by country governments is essential to addressing food insecurity. The most successful safety net programs, as showcased by Bolsa Familia, require government commitment in order to be adequately funded and supported by national policies. National governments play a key role in promoting an integrated approach to food security and addressing poverty.

SUSTAINABLE SCHOOL FEEDING: CAPE VERDE ASSUMES FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR NATIONAL PROGRAM

Government of Cape Verde

Impact

After 30 years since WFP began school feeding programs in Cape Verde, the government of Cape Verde completed a transition to full ownership of the program in 2010, to provide students with a daily school lunch. The school lunch is not only a critical tool in the fight against hunger but also serves as an incentive for parents to send their children to school. Today, 92 percent of Cape Verdean children attend school, and one of the common investments families make with their savings is in their children's higher and continuing education. Cape Verde is well on track to achieve most of its Millennium Development Goals (MDG) by 2015.

Since 1993, eight other African countries have made the transition to complete national ownership of their school meal programs.

How this Impact was Achieved

In 1979, WFP began its school feeding program in Cape Verde, fully funding and administering the program. In 2007, the government of Cape Verde began the process of taking over the funding and implementation of the program, fully completing the turnover in 2010. WFP will continue to work with the government, lending program support focusing on cost effectiveness, achieving full coverage and the local procurement of food.

To achieve this result, the program understood the importance of government buy-in and partnership at the onset. It complemented the governments' efforts to alleviate poverty through focusing on education. Throughout the process, the program focused on the capacity building of government employees, as well as stakeholder involvement, to ensure that they were well equipped when graduation was complete.

By providing a daily school meal, the program contributed to one-third of a child's meals for the month. This was not only an investment in children's nutrition and education, it also allowed poor and vulnerable families to use their family budgets on other essential needs, such as healthcare.

The Key Lessons

The process of social and economic change through supporting country ownership takes time, intense engagement and long-term investments, yet they are essential to true, sustainable development.

R4: RURAL RESILIENCE INITIATIVE IN SENEGAL

USAID, WFP, Oxfam America and Swiss Re, Senegal

Impact

In September 2011, WFP and USAID joined with Oxfam America and Swiss Re to launch R4, a public-private partnership to help rural poor people to protect their crops and livelihoods from climate variability. R4 will enable poor farmers in Senegal to strengthen their food and income security by managing risks through a four part approach — improving natural resource management (community risk reduction), accessing microcredit ("prudent" risk-taking), gaining insurance coverage (risk transfer) and increasing savings (risk reserves). R4 builds upon the highly successful growth of a multi-year pilot in Ethiopia known as the Horn of Africa Risk Transfer for Adaptation (HARITA) project. In its three of years of delivery, HARITA has scaled up from 200 enrolled households in one village in 2009 to more than 13,000 enrolled households in 43 villages in 2011.

How this Impact was Achieved

The R4 initiative will develop mechanisms that extend the benefits of financial tools such as insurance and credit to the most vulnerable populations. In this way, R4 seeks to establish sustainable market-mediated risk management tools for the most vulnerable populations — the kind of tools that will be needed to address the increased climate variability and risk projected under climate change.

The Key Lessons

Disaster risk reduction for the most vulnerable populations is cost effective: Reducing and managing risk is key to effectively building resilience amongst the most vulnerable and food insecure communities. R4's innovative risk management tools will enable beneficiary households to go from stabilizing income and access to food, to diversifying and building more resilient livelihoods that provide a pathway for these households to achieve food security despite increasing climate risk.

National plans, especially social protection systems, deserve increased support: R4 focuses on mechanisms that can be integrated into national social protection systems, including productive safety nets, so that the results can be applied and replicated at a much larger scale by governments and international organizations if successful.

STRENGTHENING HOUSEHOLD ABILITY TO RESPOND TO DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITIES (SHOUHARDO): BANGLADESH

CARE, Bangladesh

Impact

The prevalence of stunting, a measure of chronic malnutrition, among children from six months to 24 months old in the SHOUHARDO project's operational area declined from 56 percent to 40 percent over the life of the project (a 3.5 year period). During this same period, stunting was stagnant in Bangladesh as a whole and even increased for some time due to a major food price crisis and adverse weather conditions.

This drop of 4.5 percentage points per year is far higher than that in Bangladesh country-wide for this age group, which was only 0.1 percentage points per year in the first decade of the new millennium. It is also higher than the experience of previous nutrition-oriented projects. The average USAID-funded Food for Peace food aid program is associated with a reduction in stunting prevalence among children under five years from baseline to final evaluation of 2.4 percentage points per year.⁵⁷

How this Impact was Achieved

With funding from the Food for Peace office of USAID (non-emergency), CARE Bangladesh implemented a comprehensive approach which combines mother and child health and nutrition (provision of food rations to children from six months to two years and pregnant and lactating mothers), with interventions to counter:

- Unsanitary living conditions (clean water and sanitation interventions);
- Discrimination against women (women's empowerment interventions through solidarity groups, early childhood care development for

- pre-schoolers and participation of women in Parent Teacher Associations that encourage girls education for the most poor and marginalized);
- Poverty (training and inputs to increase food production and incomes, savings group training, food and cash for work);
- Discrimination against poor people (formation of village development committees to represent poor people in formal and traditional power structures); and
- Recurrent natural disasters (supporting local institutional capacity to prepare for and respond to disasters, including developing public infrastructure).

The Key Lesson

Comprehensive, rights-based, livelihoods programming unlocks impact: Combining direct nutrition interventions — such as the 13 proposed by the World Bank and the Scaling Up Nutrition initiative — with programs that address structural causes of poverty has the potential to accelerate reductions in child malnutrition at a far greater rate than can be expected from direct nutrition interventions alone.

⁵⁷ Swindale, A.; Deitchler, Megan; Cogill, Bruce and Marchione, Thomas (2004) *The Impact of Title II Maternal and Child Health and Nutrition Programs on the Nutritional Status of Children*, Occasional Paper 4, USAID FANTA Project, Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance Project, Washington, D.C.: Academy for Educational Development.

FOOD SECURITY AND NUTRITION PROGRAM (PROSANO)

Save the Children USA and Mercy Corps, Guatemala

Impact

In response to the drought of 2009 - 2012 in the eastern "Dry Corridor" of Guatemala, the PROSANO program was successful at averting acute malnourishment of 21,867 vulnerable families (131,256 total people) during a period of successive crop failures. This was accomplished via an integrated program of food assistance, health and nutrition interventions, women leader education and behavior change communication.

How this Impact was Achieved

With funding from the Food for Peace office of USAID (non-emergency), Save the Children Federation Inc. (SC) responded to a quickly evolving food insecurity emergency with a project called "Programa de Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional del Oriente" — PROSANO — ("Food Security and Nutrition Program in the Dry Corridor of Eastern Guatemala"). In year one, a sub-grant was awarded to Mercy Corps and three of the five departments (regions) of the "Dry Corridor" — Chiquimula, Zacapa and El Progreso. These regions are in a mountainous area with depleted soils, increasing water scarcity and recurring agricultural pest disease issues. In the first year, 161 communities at high risk of acute malnutrition were reached, and a total of 11,013 vulnerable families who had lost their entire subsistence corn and bean crops were served. This clearly met the program objective of reducing the impact of the food security crisis in vulnerable households, while simultaneously mitigating and managing future shocks to health, nutrition, livelihoods and overall food security.

PROSANO focuses on three main outcomes: increasing household access to nutritious foods; improving nutritional status of children from vulnerable

households; and improving the availability of nutritious foods. The main beneficiaries have been small children and pregnant and breastfeeding women who were experiencing or were at risk of malnutrition. It delivered pre-packaged, monthly food rations of rice, corn soy blend, pinto beans and fortified oil. PROSANO also conducted health assessments (weight and middle-upper arm circumference measurement) and provided nutrition education as part of the food aid distribution.

In order to sustain program successes, more than 400 "Mother Leaders" and caregivers have been trained in health, nutrition and hygiene. Some of these PROSANO participants have been certified by the Ministry of Health to expand their work outside the program, adding potential employment. In addition, more than 500 "Agricultural Leaders" have been trained in crop and animal production, agro forestry and family gardens. Rural family livelihoods have improved by introduction of certified seeds, low cost irrigation systems, worms for compost and grain storage silos. Apiaries and laying hens now provide critical nutritional protein to check the advance of malnourishment in children.

Monitoring and evaluation systems using wireless cell phone and internet technology have been developed to track beneficiaries, provide food security alerts and track economic developments.

The Key Lesson

In this integrated, cross-sector assistance project, malnourished women and children were not only provided food aid, but also participated in health education and leadership training as a means to address and sustain household food security, nutrition and livelihoods.

YALLANDO KLEYA CHILD SURVIVAL PROJECT (2004-2009)

Helen Keller International, Niger

Impact

The project used the Essential Nutrition Actions (ENA) framework to promote improved maternal, infant and young child nutrition practices in communities and to build skills for counseling on these practices among health workers and community-based volunteers in the Diffa region of Niger, an isolated part of the country with extremely high levels of under-five mortality and child undernutrition, and very little government and NGO assistance. An end-line survey of knowledge and practices suggests significant improvements across several practices promoted by this well tested approach.

The initiation of breastfeeding within one hour of birth increased from 55 percent to 85 percent, while reports of substances other than breast milk given at birth fell from 90 percent to 51 percent. Major increases in exclusive breastfeeding during the critical first six months were also reported, and complementary feeding improved as the introduction of appropriate foods to children aged six months to nine months increased from 40 percent to 72 percent. The feeding of vitamin A-rich foods of both plant and animal sources increased markedly, with the proportion of children consuming adequate amounts increasing from 17 percent to 64 percent. Most impressively, the prevalence of anemia among pregnant women fell from 40 percent to 7 percent, and from 73 percent to 51 percent among children from six months to 23 months.

How this Impact was Achieved

With funding from USAID's Child Survival Health Grants Program, health workers were trained to provide essential nutrition services (for example, iron-folic acid and treatment for malaria and intestinal helminthes for pregnant women along with counseling on immediate and exclusive breastfeeding and demonstrations of how to enrich complementary foods at health centers) and community volunteers were taught to negotiate with mothers to test and adopt more healthful dietary practices during the 1000 day critical window from pregnancy to age two. Community radio broadcasts reinforced key messages about optimal nutrition practices.

The Key Lesson

One-on-one interactions between the mothers and the trained health workers and community volunteers are essential to motivating and supporting long-term behavior change.

DEVELOPING NEW NUTRITIONAL PRODUCTS WITH PRIVATE SECTOR INVOLVEMENT

PepsiCo, Ethiopia

Impact

Improved seed and agronomic practices have demonstrated, on a pilot scale, a near doubling of yield and quality improvement in chickpea production in Ethiopia. The long-term goal of Enterprise EthioPEA, which was launched at the Clinton Global Initiative in September 2011, is to improve chickpea production across Ethiopia and to produce nutritious products made from locally grown chickpeas for low income consumers. This inclusive business approach aims to engage local producers and manufacturers, contribute to economic development and create the opportunity to develop low-cost nutritious products for consumers.

How this Impact was Achieved

USAID provided advice and guidance on the pilot and is considering funding for expansion in 2012.

PepsiCo agronomists worked in partnership with Ethiopian partners: Omega farms (commercial vegetable farm with experienced management); Ethiopian Institute of Agriculture Research; and the Ethiopian Ministry of Agriculture. Through the able direction and management of local partners it was possible to test the hypothesis that productivity can be increased with new research (improved seed quality and varieties) and planting the crops in rows for better management. The pilot has been executed on approximately five hectares of land in two main chickpea growing regions of Ethiopia. A 1.5 -2 times increase in yield has been demonstrated. PepsiCo Foundation gave a grant of \$3.5 million to WFP and a local commercial partner to optimize a chickpea-based, ready to use supplementary food (RUSF) and execute a pilot to prove product efficacy. The program is expected to drive innovative efforts aimed at breaking the cycle of hunger. The work will be executed in three phases:

 Development and acceptability of a chickpeabased RUSF;
 Distribution of chickpea RUSF to approximately 40,000 children in Ethiopia;
 Expansion of the WFP chickpea RUSF program.

The Key Lesson

Diverse partners are driving scale and impact -

USAID, the Ethiopian Ministry of Agriculture, WFP and PepsiCo are developing a Memorandum of Understanding for expanded collaboration in improving chickpea production in Ethiopia. This MOU will address specific initiatives for expansion and greater positive impact for farmers (extension services for sourcing areas; seed programs for improved chickpea varieties to meet identified market qualities; storage and infrastructure capital requirements).

HARVESTPLUS INCREASES NUTRITIONAL CONTENT OF FOODS

Impact

HarvestPlus leads a global effort to breed and disseminate micronutrient-rich staple food crops to reduce hidden hunger among malnourished populations through the process of biofortification. The biofortification focuses on three critical micronutrients that are recognized by the World Health Organization (WHO) as most limiting in diets: iron, zinc and vitamin A.

Since 2002, HarvestPlus has nearly completed two phases of its three phase program. The first phase of discovery, implemented from 2003 to 2008, included the identification of target populations and seed banks, identification of technical approaches and targets for breeding nutrient-rich seeds, research on the potential take-up by farmers and implementation of pilot programs. It also helped set up national biofortification programs in Brazil, China and India.

The second phase of *development* is ongoing, set to be complete in 2013. This phase includes developing and adapting nutrient-rich crops to perform well in target countries, testing and improving crops, developing strategies and implementing delivery of selected crops in target countries. The third and final phase of *delivery* through 2018, will evaluate the pilot projects and use those lessons to bring the program to scale in targeted program areas. It also will continue to monitor programs, while performing marketing exercises to reach target populations to the fullest extent.

How this Impact was/will be Achieved

Funded through the Bill and Melinda Gates
Foundation, and other generous donors, Harvest
Plus was pioneered through the Consultative Group
for International Agricultural Research (CGIAR), and
co-convened by the International Center for Tropical
Agriculture (CIAT) and the International Food Policy
Research Institute (IFPRI) in 2002. HarvestPlus works
with more than 200 agricultural and nutrition scientists

around the world. It is an interdisciplinary program that works with academic and research institutions, civil society organizations, governments and the private sector in more than 40 countries

HarvestPlus takes three main approaches to ensuring that foods are well utilized by the target populations:

- Targeted: It makes staple foods that the poor already eat more nutritious and starts in and focuses on rural areas where about 75 percent of the poor people in developing countries live.
- Cost-Effective: After one up-front investment in developing micronutrient-rich crops, recurrent costs of developing subsequent, high-nutrient varieties are relatively low. Nutrient-rich seeds can be planted year after year.
- Sustainable: Biofortification uses staple foods that poor people already eat regularly. Farmers can save most micronutrient-rich seeds, roots and cuttings and also share them.

The Key Lessons

The biofortification of foods requires institutional investment, but has far reaching potential to reduce malnutrition. The initial development of the micronutritient-rich crops becomes cost effective and sustainable once populations adopt the new crop variety and can work to promote intake of essential vitamins and minerals.

ACORDAR: ALLIANCE TO CREATE RURAL DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH AGRO-ENTERPRISE RELATIONSHIPS

Catholic Relief Services, Nicaragua

Impact

Seven thousand farmers have shifted from supply-driven production of raw materials to agro-enterprise, producing and processing demand-driven agricultural goods with added value sold directly to more profitable and reliable markets. After four years of the five year project, farmers have increased their income by 44 percent, selling \$39.8 million in agricultural products to WalMart, large agricultural exporters and major coffee and chocolate companies. Over the five year period, a total of \$107.1 million in sales is expected.

How this Impact was Achieved

With funding from the Food for Peace office of USAID (non-emergency), ACORDAR worked with farmers to move out of low-profit local markets into formal high-profit supply chains by teaching technical skills to improve outputs, organizing farmers into cooperatives/enterprises to increase economies of scale, and ultimately to embrace an identity as a rural business person who maintains multiple off-farm relationships with financial service providers, buyers, local governments and added value certification bodies. To achieve these results, ACORDAR helped farmers through:

- Enhancing market-based production through activities like repopulating plants, accessing new production technologies and installing greenhouses;
- Improving water conservation and utilization through building water storage tanks and drip irrigation systems;

- Adding value to production through post-harvest management techniques, such as washing, fermenting, selecting, drying and storing;
- Helping farmers access markets and both financial and non-financial services, providing significant opportunities for export and partnerships;
- Strengthening farmer enterprises by forming and working together in cooperatives to participate in economies of scale;
- 6. Engaging in value chain governance to establish and implement chain competitiveness plans; and
- 7. Creating an enabling environment for value chain development by working in alliance with 25 of the 50 municipal governments in northern Nicaragua to improve conditions for agricultural competitiveness through direct investments in productive infrastructure and training.

The Key Lesson

Working along different areas of the value chain, and integrating a broad range of actors can move small-scale farmers into agro-enterprise, bringing profits and improved lives. ACORDAR works with international and local NGOs, municipal governments and the private sector to make the market work for small producers.

PURCHASE FOR PROGRESS (P4P): CONNECTING SMALL-SCALE FARMERS TO MARKETS IN 21 COUNTRIES

World Food Program

Impact

With funding from Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, the Howard G. Buffet Foundation, Canada, European Union, Saudi Arabia, US, France, Belgium, Ireland, Luxembourg and Netherlands, Purchase for Progress (P4P) promotes the development of agricultural markets so that by 2013 at least 500,000 low income small-scale farmers — most of whom are women — will produce food surpluses and sell them at a fair price to increase their incomes. P4P also reduces the cost of importing food from other countries and helps improve long-term food security by strengthening local agricultural systems.

More than 207,000 metric tons of food valued at \$75.6 million has been contracted through P4P in 20 countries, either directly from farmers' organizations and small and medium traders, or through innovative marketing platforms such as Commodity Exchanges and Warehouse Receipt Systems. Of this total, 61 percent has been delivered to WFP to use in its food assistance operations. More than 116,000 farmers, warehouse operators and small and medium traders have received training from WFP and partners in improved agricultural production, post-harvest handling, quality assurance, group marketing, agricultural finance and contracting with WFP.

How this Impact was Achieved

Small-scale farmers face a number of significant barriers to accessing formal markets, as confirmed by a wealth of studies and evaluations of small-scale agriculture and value chains. By developing the capacity to sell to an institutional buyer such as WFP, small-scale farmers can acquire the knowledge, skills and confidence needed for engaging with formal markets. By raising farmers' incomes, P4P seeks to turn WFP's local food procurement into a vital tool toward long-term solutions to hunger and poverty.

The Key Lessons

Investing in small-scale farmers has great potential:

Following decades of neglect, governments and development partners have recently begun to make substantial political and financial commitments to advance agriculture-led growth. A notable aspect of the global response has been to lend support to small-scale farmers in developing countries with a view to renewing investment in production, increasing productivity and promoting small-scale participation in domestic, regional and international markets.

Innovations in local procurement can extend impact of programs: Securing flexible, predictable and timely cash contributions to WFP's regular program of work in the 21 pilot countries is central to P4P's success. The value of cash donations, particularly when timely, is optimized when WFP is able to use its purchasing power to support the sustainable development of food and nutrition security systems.

BUILDING THE CAPACITY OF SMALL-SCALE FARMERS, GHANA

Development Action Association of Ghana, with Africa LEAD and Women Thrive Worldwide

Impact

An important element of food security programs is improved agricultural production, which can be achieved in part by professional training. Yet access to this important resource is often lacking in rural areas, particularly for women. In fact, a 2010 World Bank study found that in Ghana fewer than five percent of female headed households have access to agricultural extension services ⁵⁸

The Development Action Association (DAA), a Ghanaian women farmers' organization, has made significant contributions to reaching female small-scale farmers throughout the country. In 2011 alone, Executive Director Lydia Sasu and colleague Stella Effah have trained 161 rural farmers — more than 80 percent female — and they plan to reach many more. Their trainings have focused on educating farmers on existing agricultural programs and policies, strategic planning and identifying solutions to local challenges in agricultural production.

How this Impact was Achieved

In February of 2011, Ms. Sasu attended a five-day leadership training course provided by Africa LEAD to deepen her understanding of CAADP. The course has since improved the effectiveness of DAA's local training of small-scale women farmers, and it has cultivated host country capabilities. Since the training, Ms. Sasu has remained involved in the CAADP implementation process and meets regularly with the CAADP signatory in order to provide officials with updates and recommendations on behalf of women farmers. She has also used her skills in advocacy to encourage gender integration and analysis across all of CAADP's thematic areas.

The Key Lesson

Engagement with civil society organizations is key for successful agricultural development programs.

Increased participation of a diverse cross section of stakeholders ensures that policies and programs are meeting the needs of the intended beneficiaries and contributes to greater flexibility and inclusivity. When farmers are equipped with the right tools, they are better able to take advantage of programs and hold governments accountable for their commitments. Training programs that target women and small-scale farmers have the dual benefits of creating linkages between vulnerable populations and decision making bodies while also strengthening the entire community's knowledge and dialogue.

Madhvani, S., E. Pehu, and R. Birner. World Bank and IFPRI. 2010. Agriculture and Rural Development Notes. Issue 53. "Gender and Governance in Agricultural Extension Services: Insights from India, Ghana and Ethiopia." (3). http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTARD/Resources/WB_ARD_GandG_Note53_ web.pdf

ANNEX 4

CALCULATING THE CHRONIC HUNGER NEED AND ESTIMATING A COST TO ADDRESS THAT NEED

Indicators for MDG1.C "Halve, between 1990 and 2015, the proportion of people who suffer from hunger."

- 1. Prevalence of underweight children under five years of age
- 2. Proportion of population below minimum level of dietary energy consumption (The World Bank uses the term, undernourishment)

COUNTRIES WITH AT LEAST 30 PERCENT PREVALENCE IN EITHER INDICATOR						
COUNTRY*	PERCENT UNDERWEIGHT CHILDREN UNDER 5	PERCENT UNDERNOURISHED	NATIONAL POPULATION (MILLIONS)	POPULATION IN NEED** (MILLIONS)		
Bangladesh	41.3	26	149	38.7		
Burundi	35.2	62	8	5.0		
Cameroon		33	20	6.6		
CAR		44	4	1.7		
Chad		39	11	4.3		
Eritrea		65	5	3.3		
Ethiopia	34.6	41	83	34.0		
Haiti		57	10	5.7		
Kenya		33	41	13.5		
Laos	31.6	22	6	1.3		
Liberia	20.4	32	4	1.3		
Mozambique		38	23	8.8		
Nepal	38.8	17	30	5.1		
Niger	39.9	16	16	2.6		
Rwanda		32	11	3.5		
Sierra Leone	21.3	35	6	2.1		
Tanzania		34	45	15.3		
East Timor	45.3	31	1	0.3		
Togo	21.0	30	6	1.8		
Yemen		30	24	7.2		
Zambia		44	13	5.7		
Zimbabwe		30	13	3.9		
·		TOTAL		171.7		
		COST PER PERSON***		\$51		
		TOTAL COST		\$8.7 Billion		
		US CONTRIBUTION (25 PERCENT)		\$2.2 Billion		

(Source: World Bank) See chart notes on reverse.

NOTES:

- -- No data available
- * Countries left off the list because of large oil or other revenues (Angola, Nigeria, India), for geopolitical reasons (North Korea, Somalia, Sudan), or for lack of information (DRC, Mauritania, South Sudan)
- ** Population in need is calculated using only the percent of undernourished people for each country.
- *** The cost per Food for Peace beneficiary for non-emergency programs was calculated based on funding and beneficiary numbers from 2008 2010's International Food Assistance Reports issued by the US Government and USAID (\$49.17, \$52.86, \$50.63)

ANNEX 5

SUMMARY CHART OF FUNDING RECOMMENDATIONS

RECOMMENDED ANNUAL US FUNDING FOR INTERNATIONAL FOOD SECURITY IN FY 14 AND FY 15					
EMERGENCY PROGRAMS					
Food for Peace Emergency Programs	\$ 1.4 billion				
International Development Assistance Emergency Food Security Program	\$ 500 million				
TOTAL FOR EMERGENCY PROGRAMS	\$ 1.9 billion				
SAFETY NET PROGRAMS					
Food for Peace Non-Emergency Programs / CDF within DA*	\$ 500 million				
McGovern-Dole International Food for Education and Child Nutrition	\$ 300 million				
TOTAL FOR SAFETY NET PROGRAMS	\$ 800 million				
NUTRITION PROGRAMS					
Global Health	\$ 450 million**				
TOTAL FOR NUTRITION PROGRAMS	\$ 450 million				
AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS					
Development Assistance - Feed the Future Agricultural Development / Nutrition	\$ 1.3 billion				
Development Assistance - Resilience Programs	\$ 200 million				
Adaptation funding***	\$ 200 million				
World Bank Global Agriculture and Food Security Program multilateral trust	\$ 150 million				
TOTAL FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS	\$ 1.85 billion				
TOTAL RECOMMENDED US INVESTMENT IN INTERNATIONAL FOOD SECURITY PROGRAMS	\$ 5 billion				

NOTES:

- * In FY2013, the Administration's budget request indicates a \$60 million request for the Community Development Fund that would provide direct program funding to the same types of programs financed through monetizing commodities provided through Food for Peace for non-emergency programs. The total of \$500 million indicates the total required for this program area, with the understanding that as the community development fund develops and is more fully funded, a greater percentage of resources will be provided in direct program funding.
- ** The World Bank identifies nutrition as the world's most serious health problem and the biggest single contributor to child mortality. Although we recommend additional funding to address nutrition within the global health account, we also recognize this will require an overall increase in the account to ensure sustained support for other valuable and complementary health programs.
- *** Adaptation funding includes allocations through the Development Assistance Account to USAID and State, the Economic Support Fund for the Least Developed Countries Fund and the Strategic Climate Fund and the Multilateral Account for the Pilot Program on Climate Resilience at the World Bank.



2012 ROADMAP SIGNATORIES

The 1,000 Days Action Network

ACDI/VOCA

ActionAid USA

ADRA International

Africare

The Alliance to End Hunger

American Jewish World Service

The Better World Campaign

Bread for the World

CARE

Catholic Relief Services

Church World Service

Concern Worldwide U.S.

Congressional Hunger Center

DAI

End Hunger Network

The Episcopal Church

The Evangelical Lutheran Church in America

Global Alliance for Improved Nutrition (GAIN)

Global Child Nutrition

Foundation

Heifer International

Helen Keller International

The Hunger Project

International Relief & Development (IRD)

John Snow, Inc.

Joint Council on International Children's Services

Lutheran World Relief

Management Sciences for Health

The Manoff Group, Inc.

Mercy Corps

Numana, Inc.

One Acre Fund

Oxfam America

Partnership to Cut Hunger and Poverty in Africa

PATH

Save the Children

Self Help Africa

Society of St. Andrew

Stop Hunger Now

U.S. Coalition for Child Survival

U.S. Fund for UNICEF

United Methodist Committee

on Relief

United Methodist General Board of Church and Society

Universities Fighting World Hunger

Women Organizing for Change in Agriculture & Natural Resource

Management (WOCAN)

Women Thrive Worldwide

World Central Kitchen

World Cocoa Foundation

World Concern

World Food Program USA